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ABOUT US: 
MANDATE
The British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board 
(BCCMB) is a not-for-profit agricultural commodity 
board that was created and empowered by the British 
Columbia Chicken Marketing Scheme in 1961.  The 
Chicken Board is responsible for setting provincial 
chicken prices, determining quota, allocating quota to 
growers, managing the quota system and collecting 
levies.  This includes all activities from the time the day 
old chick arrives on farm until the chicken arrives at the 
processing plant, and is established in the BCCMB’s 
General Orders.  Hatcheries, growers, transporters, 
processors and, starting next year in 2018, catchers are 
licenced by the Board on an annual basis.  

VISION
Leading a healthy, growing and 
profitable BC chicken industry.

PURPOSE
To regulate the pricing and production 
of BC chicken while meeting consumer 
expectations including animal care 
and on farm food safety; and working 
with industry partners to maintain 
sustainability as we grow the market.

VALUES
With our industry partners, staff and 
public in mind, we are:

Fair – we take a balanced approach 
in executing our responsibilities

Dependable – we can be counted 
on to do what we say we will do

Accountable – we hold ourselves 
responsible for our decisions and 
actions
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GUIDING PRINCIPLES
Our Guiding Principle — To respond to changing 
societal priorities and a changing and increasingly 
complex marketplace, the Board has adopted a number 
of principles to guide its members within its national 
and provincial mandate and jurisdiction.  

We apply Principles Based Regulation through the use 
of SAFETI: 

zz Strategic – identifying key opportunities and 
systemic challenges, and plan for actions to 
effectively manage risk and take advantage of 
future opportunities

zz Accountable – maintaining legitimacy and 
integrity through understanding and discharging 
responsibilities and reporting performance  

zz Fair – ensuring procedural fairness in processes and 
decision making 

zz Effective – ensuring clearly defined outcomes with 
appropriate processes and measures

zz Transparent – ensuring that processes, practices, 
procedures, and reporting on how the mandate is 
exercised are open, accessible and fully informed  

zz Inclusive – ensuring that appropriate interests, 
including the public interest, are considered 

REPORT FROM 
THE CHAIR
The 2017 year has been eventful for the BC Chicken 
Marketing Board. Over the year the Board has dealt with 
a number of important issues including:

zz The new pricing formula 

zz New catching regulations and the load-out report

zz Solutions to the underproduction of the British 
Columbia’s allocation

zz Implementation of amended New Entrant Grower 
regulations

zz Response to the Farm Industry Review Board’s 
review of quota transfer assessment regulations

The Board appreciates the input from the Pricing and 
Production Advisory Committee (PPAC) and Specialty 
Markets Advisory Committee (SMAC) throughout the 
year. Also, in order to ensure that industry concerns 
were heard, the Board met several times during the year 
with the executive of the Primary Poultry Processors 
Association of BC (PPPABC) and the BC Chicken Growers 
Association (BCCGA).  

Although the PPPABC appealed the new pricing formula 
implemented by the Board in June 2017 we are pleased 
that, through mediation, the Board, processors and 
growers came to an agreement to utilize the formula 
with the addition of specific upper and lower guardrails 
subject to a review by June 2018.   

An undercover video by the Mercy for Animals 
organization prompted a review of chicken catching 
procedures in British Columbia. An industry committee 
of catching companies, processors and growers worked 
with the Board to develop new protocols for catching. 
British Columbia now has the most comprehensive 
regulations for this sector in the country.  

There was a significant increase in BC’s allocation 
in 2017 however; the industry struggled to produce 
100 percent of this allocation. In order to deal with 
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this problem the Board established a Value Chain 
Committee  consisting of Board members, staff, BCCGA, 
hatchery and processor representatives, board and 
staff from the BC Broiler Hatching Egg Commission. The 
Committee’s mandate is to advise the Board on ways to 
improve the allocation utilization and to identify ways to 
reduce costs through the value chain. In the interim the 
Board, with industry consultation, agreed to increase 
the allowable production density for mainstream 
and specialty chicken growers and made temporary 
adjustments to the General Orders concerning leasing 
and over marketing levies.  It is encouraging that in 
December 2017 allocation utilization exceeded 100 
percent.

By the end of 2017, all of the New Entrant Growers that 
were eligible to increase their quota to the 20,000 kg 
level had provided the required barn space to qualify. 
In addition, a number of growers took advantage of 
the “buy one, get one” provisions of the amended New 
Entrant Grower program.   

Left to right:  Ralph Payne, Bill Vanderspek, Derek Janzen, Robin Smith, Ray Nickel, Alistair Johnston

 During 2017, the Farm Industry Review Board undertook 
a review of quota transfer assessment policies. Following 
discussions with industry participants the Board made 
a number of quota policy recommendations to FIRB 
and anticipate a report on the subject in early 2018. 

The Board thanks all the industry stakeholders who 
worked with us in 2017 and look forward to ongoing 
cooperation in the year ahead.

Robin Smith
Chair
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REPORT 
FROM THE 
EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTOR
2017 was a year of record growth for the chicken 
industry, but it did not come without significant 
challenges.  During 2017, British Columbia’s 318 chicken 
farmers produced 233.1 million kilograms (live weight) 
of chicken (an increase from last year of 2.81%).  Due 
to a number of converging circumstances, we were able 
to produce only 98.2% of our 2017 periodic allocation.  

Growers were hit hard in 2017 by disease issues, 

primarily Inclusion Body Hepatitis (IBH) and Reovirus 
which resulted in higher than normal mortality and 
decreased growth rates and shipping weights. These 
problems were occurring at the same time as growers are 
learning to deal with less options for disease prevention 
and the reduced use of antimicrobials.  To address the 
issue of underproduction, the Board implemented a 
number of temporary initiatives intended to provide 
growers with enhanced flexibility with regard to over 
production sleeves, leasing of allotments and leasing 
of underutilized and unregistered space.  In addition, 
industry stakeholders have participated in a Chicken 
Value Chain Committee under the leadership of 
BCCMB director Ralph Payne.  This committee consists 
of growers, hatchery and processor representatives, 
BCCMB and BCBHEC directors and staff is tackling the 
problem of underproduction from the grass roots level. 

The undercover video released in June spurred the 
industry to action and has resulted in a number of 
amendments to the BCCMB General Orders.  These 
are designed to address gaps that were identified in 
the catching and load out process.  We appreciate the 
cooperation that we have received from all industry 
sectors during this difficult time. 
  
During the year, there was no change to the makeup of 
the Board.  We note there will be an election in 2018 for 
a grower member as Mr. Derek Janzen’s current 3 year 
term expires in March.

In January of 2017, Executive Assistant Ms. Christine 
Rickson celebrated her 30th anniversary with the 
BCCMB.  She started with the Board in January of 1987 
on a 4 month contract to update the General Orders.  
Other office duties included typing grower licences on 
the IBM Correcting Selectric typewriter using carbon 
paper and copying grower notices and monthly 
Board reports on a Gestetner mimeograph machine.  
Congratulations to Christine on this milestone; we trust 
that she will be with the BCCMB for many more years to 
come.

We are pleased to announce the addition of a new 
member to our Field Staff.  Karlie Erickson joined the 
BCCMB staff on November 15, 2017, coming from the BC 
Egg Marketing Board, where she held a similar position.  
The Board authorized an additional staff member 
due to the increase workload over the past couple of 
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years, with the addition of SE testing and leadership 
on a number of important industry committees.  Also 
starting in 2018, Inspection staff will commence spot 
audits on chick placements and the catching/load-out 
process.  

Nationally, my counterpart at CFC, Mr. Mike Dungate has 
retired from his position as Executive Director of CFC, a 
position he held for 20 years.  Mr. Michael Laliberté was 
selected to replace Mike.  Michael has been with CFC for 
over 26 years, most recently as Director of Operations, 
and has been serving as second-in-command to Mike.  
We wish Mike well in his retirement and wish Michael 
much success in this new role at CFC.  And yes, Christine 
remembers when they were both hired at CFC.  

Field Services Manager Kathy Erickson celebrated her 
15 year anniversary with the BCCMB in 2017.  Kathy has 
an important leadership role at the Board office, and is 
held in high regard by her peers across the provinces 
and at CFC.  We look forward to Kathy’s continued 
leadership in our Field Services team and her important 
role at the BCCMB.

Many thanks to BCCMB staff members Christine Rickson, 
Kathy Erickson, Yvonne Wallace, Arlene Oslie, Kira 
Harrison, Jason Maarhuis, Cheryl Davie, Shawn Mallon, 
Erica Driesen and Karlie Erickson for their continued 
hard work and dedication. 
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Manager of
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Manager of 
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Cheryl Davie

Shawn Mallon Kathy Erickson

Executive
Director

Bill Vanderspek

Accounting 
Yvonne Wallace

Production
Coordinator

Arlene Oslie
Administrative

Assistant 
Erica Driesen

Auditor 
Kira Harrison

Auditor  
Karlie Erickson

BCCMB Board
of Directors

Auditor 
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Back Row from Left to Right- Arlene Oslie, Christine Rickson, Kathy Erickson, Cheryl Davie, Kira Harrison
Front Row from Left to Right- Jason Maarhuis, Erica Driesen, Shawn Mallon, Yvonne Wallace

Missing: Karlie Erickson

Bill Vanderspek
Executive Director
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VISION
Leading a healthy, growing and 
profitable BC chicken industry.

PURPOSE
To regulate the pricing and production of BC chicken while 

meeting consumer expectations including animal care and on 
farm food safety; and working with industry partners to maintain 

sustainability as we grow the market.  

Goals

Fair 
we take a balanced 
approach in executing 
our responsibilities 

Implement 
programs that provide 

the opportunity for a fair 
return to the producers, and 

allow processors to be 
competitive in the 
domestic market

Implement 
programs to promote 
increased production 
and consumption of 

chicken in BC.

Implement 
programs that reslt in 
industry sustainability 

and diversity.

Achieve “Best in 
Class” Board 

governance and 
business operations.

Working within 
the Federal Provincial 

Agreement for chicken to 
optimize growth 

opportunities for the BC 
chicken industry.

With our industry partners, sta� and the public in mind, we are:

Dependable
we can be counted on 
to do what we say we 
will do

Accountable
we hold ourselves 
responsible for our 
decisions and actions 

Values

STRATEGIC PLANNING
The Board, after extensive industry consultation, has completed its newest Strategic Plan to cover 2017 through 
2019.  It contains a vision, purpose, values and guiding principles to guide the Board moving forward.  A summary is 
provided below showing the goals and priorities of the Board for the next several years.  
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STAKEHOLDER 
ENGAGEMENT 
PRICING AND 
PRODUCTION ADVISORY 
COMMITTEE
(PPAC) REPORT 2017:
The Board established PPAC pursuant to Section 3.20 
of the BCCMB Scheme, composed of 3 growers, 3 
processors, and 1 broiler hatching egg producer. All 
are appointed by the Board after consultation with 
their respective Associations. The only change to the 
committee was P. McCartan replaced J. McDowell as 
a processor alternate.  All alternate members, a non-
voting organic grower and the independent Chair are 
appointed by the BCCMB.

PPAC met in person on 5 occasions and once by 
conference call to discuss various issues:

Density Requirements:

In April 2016, PPAC unanimously recommended to the 
Board that the density requirement contained in the 
General Orders be increased to 35.5 kg m/sq.  PPAC 
would review after 6 periods, after which the PPAC may 
recommend the density requirement be increased to 38 
kg m/sq.  

zz February, 2017 the ED reported on the current 
density requirements. He reported that there has 
been little to no negative effects of this change from 
BCCMB Inspectors to date, and the Board requested 
that PPAC review the move to the maximum of 
38 kg per square meter to start in A-139.  After 
lengthy discussions, growers were in agreement 
with the move to the maximum density in the next 
unallocated period. They felt growers need to 
become more efficient and this would assist in this 
goal. However, the processors had no issue with 
speeding up the implementation, but requested to 
review condemnation and mortality reports first. 

They agreed to a 3 week delay pending review of 
the Flock Forms which states stocking density for 
each flock.  

zz  March 9/17 PPAC members were informed that 
the BCCMB was prepared to move ahead with 
the increase to the maximum allowable stocking 
density for broiler chickens to 38 kg/m² . PPAC was 
given until March 31, 2017 to forward comments or 
concerns.

zz Processors and growers provided written input 
with concerns and recommendations. Processors 
noted that higher stocking densities have been 
successfully implemented in other provinces 
while maintaining animal care and bird quality 
standards, and could be a factor towards B.C. 
achieving full production of its national allocation 
share.  The BCCGA supported the increase of 
maximum allowable density to 38 kgs/meter 
square.

April 3, 2017 BCCMB Approved and 
amended Schedule 5 to reflect the increase 
in stocking density for mainstream growers as noted 
above (refer to August 26, 2011 General Orders for 
particulars).  Growers that wish to qualify for increased 
density will be required to meet all of the specifications 
contained in the CFC Animal Care Program and be 
certified by BCCMB field staff prior to receiving increased 
allotments.

BC Formula for the Pricing of Live 
Mainstream Chicken:  

The Board engaged an independent consultant to 
review all of the material that has been submitted by 
the BC Chicken Growers’ Association (BCCGA) and the 
Primary Poultry Processors Association of BC (PPPABC).  
On February 21/17, and again on March 1/17, PPAC was 
invited to a special meeting to review the new Pricing 
Model and make our recommendations to the Board.  
Neither growers nor processors were prepared to make 
any recommendations and were reminded that the 
Board required a response by March 24, 2017 even if it 
is a no response.
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zz  March 24, 2017 both the BCCGA and the PPPABC 
submitted comments with respect to the pricing 
formula, however given their disparity both parties 
agreed to leave the final decision to the BCCMB.

zz April 12, 2017 PPAC Meeting with consultants, 
(Ference and Co. and Serecon Consulting) -- The 
only agenda item was the Board’s pricing decision 
going forward. A lengthy discussion with respect to 
the COP, from feed to chicks, weight categories, and 
catching, which led to the necessity for more clarity 
and additional information before PPAC could make 
a unanimous recommendation. The decision was 
deferred pending more clarity with respect to a new 
formula.

zz PPAC Special Meeting May 10, 2017- Presentation 
from consultants to review the Pricing Formula 
for Live BC Grown Chicken. The group discussed 
the presentation at length and while PPAC 
had previously agreed to the concept of the 
new formula, both the growers and processors 
expressed the need for clarification on feed costs, 
rolling averages and guardrails.  The Board would 
take the PPAC’s comments under advisement prior 
to final decision.

May 26, 2017 the amended Board 
Decision of April 24, 2017:   
Effective A-144 the following formula for the live pricing 
of mainstream broiler has been ordered by the Board: 

BC Posted Price = Ontario Price + 
$0.035 (catching cost) + 50% of the 
difference in the feed and chick 
costs of growing a kilogram of live 
chicken between Ontario and British 
Columbia. (Refer to August 26, 2011 General 
Orders - Schedule 19 Pricing Model for particulars).

It should be noted the Primary Producers Association 
of BC (PPPABC) appealed the above noted BCCMB 
Pricing Formula to the British Columbia Farm Industry 
Review Board (FIRB).   A mediation session was held on 
September 8, 2017 which resulted in an agreement to 
include “Pricing guardrails” for periods A-146 through 

A-150.  As a result, on September 19, 2017, PPPABC 
withdrew its appeal to FIRB.

The Pricing Formula will be evaluated by the Board on 
an annual basis.

Organic Issues:
Live pricing for Organic continues to be set by the 
Board at 100% of the Serecon cost of production for 
the period, unless varied by exceptional circumstances.  
However, it should be noted a recent updated pricing 
report from Serecon in November 2017 indicated that 
there had been a significant change in manufacturing 
methods at one of the feed mills that had resulted in 
a significant increase in the cost of organic feed.  The 
Board is prepared to allocate the resources that will be 
required to re-survey on farm results at the appropriate 
time, and would be pleased to discuss this matter with 
PPAC early in the New Year.

I am pleased to have served as the PPAC Chair for the 
past three years. The commitment by the members, the 
Board and Staff are commendable and all work hard to 
ensure positive and sustainable results.  

Thank you

Karen Landon
PPAC Chair

SPECIALTY MARKETS 
ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
(SMAC) 
ANNUAL REPORT 2017
The Board constituted SMAC with the purpose to 
provide advice to the Board on matters related to the 
specialty sector, and provide a forum whereby the 
specialty sector can discuss areas of mutual interest 
and concern. I am pleased to report all Committee 
members met 4 times; 3 face-to-face, 1 via conference 
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call to discuss pricing and issues related to cost of 
production (COP) for specialty chicken. SMAC consists 
of 3 specialty growers, 3 specialty processors, a BCCMB 
member, and a Chair-person.  In March 2017, at the 
request from the BCCGA, Brad Driediger was appointed 
as an observer.

SMAC addressed the following issues and opportunities 
during fiscal 2017:

Density Increase for Specialty 
Quota Holders

January 2017, the Board approved and amended the 
General Orders after the unanimous recommendation 
from SMAC. The Board increased the maximum 
allowable stocking density for specialty quota holders 
to 32.5 kilograms live weight per square meter (3.02 kg 
per square foot).  The amendments can be found at 
Part 33 and Schedule 5 of the August 26, 2011 BCCMB 
General Orders.

zz Silkie Chicken and TC Pricing 
SMAC continues to review Serecon’s updated COP 
for every second pricing period,  and to date have 
unanimously recommended to the Board a price 
based on Serecon’s updated pricing formula. In 
addition, SMAC questioned and discussed if the 
change in the number of TC categories caused any 
concerns to processors. The processors commented 
that these new categories allow to better meet 
customer needs, and felt that all breeds are covered 
under the COP.

zz Specialty Marketing Campaign  
The processor members of SMAC all agreed to 
establish a Processor Marketing Committee and 
had been working on this project during fiscal 
2016. As a result, in March 2017, SMAC was given a 
presentation by C. Davie dealing with promotion of 
asian chicken. The BCCMB, in conjunction with AIF 
and Buy BC, put in significant funds into the project 
to assist local specialty processors with competition 
arising from other provinces entering the specialty 
market. Promotion is via specialty print ads, 
cooking videos, TV commercials and social media.  
SMAC thanked the Board for making the campaign 
possible and recommended it be presented to all 
specialty growers.

zz Catching Issues 
At the SMAC meeting July 26, 2017, a member 
mentioned that a change of a catching crew has 
had some positive results.  In addition the SMAC 
were pleased the Board was actively involved 
in closing the gaps in the CFC Animal Care 
Program and the Code of Practice with respect 
to catching.  In October 2017, we were advised 
the Board had made amendments to the General 
Orders with respect the definition of catching, the 
licensing of catchers, and growers and processors 
responsibilities, to be effective January 1, 2018.

zz  Mediated Agreement - Effects of the first 
20% of Specialty Quota returning to the 
Specialty market that is no longer being 
used to produce Organic Chicken 
At the SMAC meeting November 20, 2017 the ED 
reported that the first 20% transition had been 
completed without issue and took effect in A-148 
(January 2018). He also stated that in 2017 there 
was 1.7 M kgs. more of specialty product grown 
than BC growers have quota for. That equates to 
23%, illustrating that there is ample room for this 
conversion back to specialty.  The plan is to move 
all growers currently using specialty quota to grow 
organic product back to producing 100% of their 
quota holdings as the class for which it is issued by 
the end of 2020.  

SMAC had another busy and productive year, and 
I am very pleased to be a part of a committee that is 
dedicated and willing to work together to maintain and 
grow the specialty market.

Our thanks to the BCCMB & Staff for their support and 
extra efforts this past year.  

Karen Landon
SMAC Chair
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PRICING MEDIATED 
DECISION
The previous pricing formula, ordered by FIRB, that 
has been used for the past seven years was comprised 
of the weighted average of the live prices in Ontario, 
Manitoba, Saskatchewan and Alberta plus a differential 
of $0.0435.  The Board undertook a review in 2016.  The 
pricing review consultation dragged out through 2016 
into 2017.  The Board made its decision and SAFETI 
analysis in May 2017 to be effective in quota period 
A-144.  The processors appealed the Board’s decision 
but requested a mediation session occur in advance of 
the appeal hearings.  Mediation occurred on September 
8, 2017 resulting in an agreement which was effective 
for quota period A-146.  The formula can be found in the 
Schedule 19 of General Orders, on our website or click 
here for the direct link to the order.  

The formula is:

BC Posted Price = Ontario Price + $0.035 
(catching cost) + 50% of the difference in the 
feed and chick costs of growing a kilogram 
of live chicken between Ontario and British 
Columbia.  

The Board may vary the formula when it makes a finding 
of exceptional circumstances in accordance with 
Schedule 2 Pricing and Production Advisory Committee 
– (7) Variation for Exceptional Circumstances of the 
August 26, 2011 General Orders.  The pricing formula 
will be evaluated by the Board on an annual basis.  

In summary the agreement contains the following 
elements:  
zz  Is for the next five quota periods – A-146 to A-150 

inclusive.

zz Formula to now include guardrails of a maximum of 
$0.0984 & a minimum of $0.0761.

zz  Ontario price defined as being based on weight 
category of 1.84 – 1.95 kg live weight.

zz Ontario price is to be inclusive of the modular 
loading cost recovery premium which is currently 
set at $0.012.

zz Any changes in the catching price up to the end of 
A-150 will result in corresponding changes to the 
live price.  

zz The live price will continue to be set using a six 
period rolling average.  

CATCHING
The Board took action in relations to an animal welfare 
incident concerning the catching of chickens which 
was aired on television in June 2017.  The event led to 
the Board initiating meetings with industry to discuss 
possible options for licencing, training, certification 
and audit systems that would result in the creation of 
industry wide standards for the catching process.  

A committee of representatives from the BCCMB, 
BCCGA, processors, catching contractors and other BC 
feather Boards was created and tasked to come up 
with solutions to mitigate any future catching events.  
The committee worked diligently to create a load 
out report form, and come up with a list of possible 
licencing requirements for catching crews.  The Board 
on November 27, 2017 accepted the recommendation 
of the smaller committee on terms for licence.  From 
the list, a terms/conditions of licence checklist will 
be created for use in 2018, when catching crews and 
catching contractors will be licenced by the BCCMB 
for the first time.  This list will go to the full catching 
committee for final input prior to implementation.  

The results of the cooperative committee was that the 
toughest catching regulations in Canada have been 
created.  

VALUE CHAIN
2017 was a year of value chain issues causing BC 
growers, for the first time in a very long time to not 
be able to meet their allotments.  The Board struck a 
committee to collectively work toward achieving a 
minimum of 100% of BC’s periodic allocation from 
CFC.  The committee is comprised of Board members, 
Board staff, BCCGA members, hatchery and processor 
representatives, and BCBHEC Board members and staff.  
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The committee’s first meeting was held on May 29, 2017.  
The objectives the committee have been tasked with 
include: 

zz  Improve BC’s allocation utilization

zz  Achieve minimum target of 100%

zz  Utilize a value chain approach

zz  Reduce costs throughout the value chain

zz  Identify the magnitude of the problem

zz  Make recommendations to the BCCMB and the 
industry as applicable.

The committee was to review the following areas:  
breeder chicks, hatching eggs, hatcheries, broiler sector, 
processing sector and catching.

In the interim, as the committee worked, the Board 
instituted temporary measures to encourage growers to 
maximize their production and meet their allotments. 
These were vetted through the committee prior to 
implementation.  The measures can be found under the 
heading “Temporary measures to increase BC’s periodic 
quota utilization” later in this report.  

MANDATORY INSURANCE 
REVIEW COMMITTEE 
(MIRC)
The committee, consisting of the four feather Boards, 
continued its work from 2015/2016.  By November 
2017 all five phases of reports were completed by the 
consultant Agri-Saki Consulting Inc. and accepted by 
the feather Boards.  

The committee had decided not to proceed to 
secure enabling authorities under the NPMA 
to require growers to maintain insurance 
against disease losses at this time.  Instead, 
the feather Boards will commence action to establish 
an Infected Premise Cleaning and Disinfection (C&D) 
Cost Recovery Fund to cover the extraordinary C&D of 
infected premises for future Notifiable Avian Influenza 

(NAI) disease discoveries using existing contingencies 
and levy structures.  Industry associations and 
stakeholders were informed of the decision in December 
of 2017, as was BCFIRB.  The decisions were posted 
for stakeholder review and comment for 30 days.  The 
committee awaits a cost sharing recommendation from 
the BC Poultry Association.  

It is the expectation of the committee that early in 
the new year all four feather Boards will confirm the 
decision regarding the establishment of an Infected 
C&D Cost Recovery Fund after giving due consideration 
to any and all comments received.  

In order to ensure that all poultry producers have 
the same set of documents, and information on the 
mandatory review, a common website was developed.  
It is available at www.avianinsurancereview.com. This 
site contains the documents related to the review and 
enables the user to provide comments and feedback 
online.  

APPEALS & LEGAL 
ACTION
Changes made to the New Entrant 
Grower Program November 2016

Eleven specialty growers appealed the exclusion of all 
specialty growers to participate in the changes made to 
the NEG program in November of 2017 (specifically the 
matching clause commonly known as “BOGO” where 
the grower purchased up to a maximum of 10,000 kg 
and the Board matches up to a maximum of 10,000 kg).  
Subsequently the number of growers appealing the 
decision decreased to six. 

The BCCGA also appealed the decision.  They were 
opposed to the “BOGO” being funded from the general 
mainstream chicken quota allocation and not from the 
New Entrant Grower pool.  They also appealed the tying 
of NEG’s, who accepted the additional incentive quota, 
remaining tied to their current processors for another 10 
years.  The BCCGA withdrew their appeal after obtaining 
clarity from the Board respecting the funding of the 
“BOGO” portion of the program.   
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The appeal was heard on May 18, 2017 in Abbotsford.  
On August 10, 2017, FIRB ordered the above noted 
appeal be dismissed, accepting the argument that the 
Chicken Board has the ability to address the needs of 
one sector without having to apply the changes made 
in that sector to all other sectors of the industry.  The 
Board’s decision to not extend the matching program to 
the specialty sector was upheld.  

PPPABC appealing the new pricing 
formula 

The processors appealed the Board decision respecting 
the implementation of a new pricing formula for 
mainstream chicken (regular broilers) effective in A-144.  
Processors also appealed for a stay of the BCCMB 
decision, which was denied by FIRB.  FIRB ruled that the 
stay application did not meet the three criteria required 
to allow for a decision in favor of the appellants.  

The PPPABC proposed a mediation session be held in 
advance to the appeal hearings.  The mediation session 
was scheduled for September 8, 2017, attended by 
BCCMB, PPPABC, BCCGA, BCBHEC and BCFIRB.  The 
mediation resulted in a tentative agreement between 
the parties that will provide stability in the pricing 
agreement for periods A-146 through A-150 inclusive.

The guardrails will be the differential between the 
live prices of BC and Ontario as follows:

zz Maximum of $0.0984

zz Minimum of $0.0761

The Ontario price is defined as being based on the 
weight category of 1.84 – 1.95 kg live weight.  The 
Ontario price is to also be inclusive of the modular 
loading cost recovery premium which is currently 
set at $0.012.  
 
Any increases or decreases in the cost of catching 
during the period up to and including the end of 
period A-150 will result in corresponding increases 
or decreases to the maximum and minimum prices 
contained in above agreement.  The live price will 
continue to be set on a six period rolling average.  

The processors agreed to withdraw their appeal to 
BCFIRB.  Beginning in A-149, the previously scheduled 

one-year review of the new pricing period will be 
initiated.  

Direction of product

0802281 BC Ltd appealed the decision of the BCCMB 
to direct the type of product to be grown under its 
specialty quota and shipped to a specific processor for 
quota period A-145.  The grower applied for a stay.  FIRB 
ruled that the stay application did not meet the three 
criteria required to allow for a decision in favor of the 
appellants.  The appeal was subsequently withdrawn 
by the appellant and FIRB issued a dismissal order. 

DIFFERENTIAL GROWTH 
AGREEMENT
In November 20, 2014 Chicken Farmers of Canada 
announced the signing of a new allocation agreement 
that would allocate 55% of future growth based on 
provincial comparative advantage factors, such as 
population growth, income-based GDP, consumer price 
index, farm input price index and quota utilization.  
For BC, the amount of growth that is allocated, based 
on comparative advantage factors, is less than what 
would have been allocated under the former pro-rata 
agreement.  At the end of period A-147, January 20, 
2018, the total difference between pro-rata growth and 
actual growth (in kilograms) of allocation is 10,801,137 
kg (evisc).  

FIELD SERVICES 2017 
REPORT
Auditing

In 2017 the BCCMB auditing team of Kathy, Jason, 
and Kira looked after the OFFSAP, ACP and Biosecurity 
audits. In November, a fourth auditor Karlie was hired to 
assist in the added responsibilities of the team.  There 
are 373 farm sites to audit in BC which includes the 
Interior and Vancouver Island. All but 6 farm locations 
had completed their audits by the end of 2017. Those 
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remaining audits were delayed due to unusual 
circumstances. Of the farms audited in BC, 48 farms 
had corrective actions (CARS) that would be completed 
in 2018.  BCCMB issued 10 warning letters for overdue 
corrective actions and no penalty letters. All farms that 
received these letters completed their corrective actions 
shortly after receiving them. 

The 4 most common corrective actions at the farm for 
On Farm Food Safety program, Animal Care Program 
and the Biosecurity program were:

1. 103 corrective actions for annual water test

2. 50 corrective actions for incomplete Standard 
Operating Procedures 

3. 28 corrective actions respecting  rodent control

4. 28 medication related questions in feed or 
medicator testing 

Period Start Date End Date  Pro Rata KG  (evis)  Actual  KG (evis) Difference in Growth KG   
A127 08-Nov-14 27-Dec-14                22,191,334                    22,023,559             167,775 

A128 28-Dec-14 21-Feb-15                22,414,634                    22,238,884             175,750 

A129 22-Feb-15 18-Apr-15                23,446,011                    23,260,229             185,782 

A130 19-Apr-15 13-Jun-15                23,848,395                    23,640,237             208,158 

A131 14-Jun-15 08-Aug-15                23,430,485                    23,244,475             186,010 

A132 09-Aug-15 03-Oct-15                22,821,648                    22,635,828             185,820 

A133 04-Oct-15 28-Nov-15                23,681,702                    23,356,951             324,751 

A134 29-Nov-15 23-Jan-16                23,085,959                    23,006,831               79,128 

A135 24-Jan-16 19-Mar-16                24,015,610                    23,803,366             212,244 

A136 20-Mar-16 14-May-16                24,639,378                    24,399,703             239,675 

A137 15-May-16 09-Jul-16                24,801,531                    24,400,889             400,642 

A138 10-Jul-16 03-Sep-16                24,510,177                    23,874,018             636,159 

A139 04-Sep-16 29-Oct-16                23,985,994                    23,796,768             189,226 

A140 30-Oct-16 24-Dec-16                24,103,214                    23,899,948             203,266 

A141 25-Dec-16 18-Feb-17 24,224,916 23,061,922 1,162,994

A142 19-Feb-17 15-Apr-17 25,246,736 24,947,572 299,164

A143 16-Apr-17 10-Jun-17 26,005,528 25,405,445 600,083

A144 11-Jun-17 5-Aug-17 25,875,461 25,612,455 263,006

A145 6-Aug-17 30-Sep-17 26,021,381 25,453,862 567,519

A146 1-Oct-17 25-Nov-17 26,000,118 25,051,239 948,879

A147 26-Nov-17 20-Jan-18 25,523,188 24,545,253 977,935

Total 10,801,137

Data Source: Chicken Farmers of Canada

The corrective actions were completed in a timely 
fashion once they were issued. The number of farms 
with corrective actions has increased in 2017 by 61 
partially due to the changes in how the reporting for 
medications during a flock is required. In 2018 we are 
expecting to see the CARS drop at the farm level.

CFC Programs

CFC’s commitment to the OFFSAP and ACP programs 
instituted a third party audit of all provinces starting in 
2016. These audits were performed once again in 2017 
by Guelph Food Technology Centre (GTFC).  This involved 
completing 2 shadow audits on each BC auditor. The 
reports received from GTFC were very positive on the 
auditor’s skills and adherence to the OFFSAP and ACP 
programs. These reports were sent to Chicken Farmers 
of Canada and Bill Vanderspek of BCCMB. 
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In 2017, Chicken Farmers of Canada began reviewing 
the Animal Care Program based on the new Code of 
Practices. A team of vets, producers, CFC staff, SPCA, 
other industry stakeholders and Kathy from our office 
were on the committee. Four meetings were held in 
2017 to review the Animal Care Program and it will be 
ongoing into 2018. The tentative date to roll out the 
changes to the Animal Care program will be late 2018 
or early 2019.

Salmonella Enteriditis (SE)

During 2017 Salmonella Enteriditis testing at the farm 
level was continued. A report was prepared and sent to 
the Board of the findings of the SE testing for 2017.  If 
the farms results are positive the farmer will be advised. 
When a positive test is received, a thorough C&D 
(cleaning and disinfecting) is mandatory for the farm 
and producers should ensure that they document it 
on their blue sheets (CFC OFFSAP & ACP Flock-Specific 
Records). Testing for SE at the farm level will continue 
into 2018 with some possible expansions of the testing 
being conducted.  This recommendation is coming 

from the Chicken Value Chain Committee which was 
started in 2017.

Anti-Microbial Use (AMU) 

Kathy and Jason are also involved in the new AMU 
strategy committee that Dr. Bill Cox chairs. This 
committee was formed to assist producers and help 
disseminate strategies in regards to the removal 
of Category II medications that will be occurring in 
2019. CFC is working closely with the provinces to get 
information to producers in advance of the upcoming 
changes. Producers should have received their first AMU 
Magazine from CFC by email. These will be a quarterly 
production. Watch for upcoming seminars on the AMU 
strategies in spring of 2018.

BioCon Training CFIA

Kira and Karlie are involved with CFIA in Bio Containment 
training. They have attended several training sessions 
with CFIA as BCCMB representatives. The training is a 
joint venture with the 4 poultry Boards in BC and CFIA 
as the lead. It is an excellent way for team building to 
occur throughout the sectors.

Live Haul Reporting

Since the Live Haul Committee was established in the 
summer of 2017, a lot of work has gone into this section 
of our industry; closing some loose ends respecting 
traceability. The BCCMB is now receiving weekly live 
haul reports from our hauling companies. The Auditors 
review these reports and make phone calls if any 
concerns arise from the reports or if any follow up is 
required. Starting in 2018, all live haul companies will 
need a license from the BCCMB in order to haul chicken 
within the province. Mandatory training for all catchers 
is now documented and can be viewed by BCCMB staff 
when they attend live haul at the farms. 

Changes

Auditors are increasingly moving towards paperless 
audits with the hope of doing audits on tablets by 2018. 
Producers are encouraged to send corrective actions by 
email or text when possible as we will not be supporting 

Karlie Erickson new BCCMB Inspection/Auditor
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the use of the fax machine in 2018. This ensures better 
traceability for when items have been sent to the 
Board. The Board improved its carbon footprint by 
transitioning the Inspection/Auditor staff to Hybrid 
Toyota Rav4’s in 2017, which is already showing a cost 
savings in fuel. 

New Bio security signs saying “No Trespassing” were 
purchased for the 4 feather Boards with some funding 
from IAF. They are aluminum and neon in color. If you 
have not received yours yet, you can attend the Board 
office and pick them up or the auditors will bring them 
to your farm on your next audit date. 

TOTAL FLOCK 
MORTALITY & FIRST 
WEEK MORTALITY
This includes all bird types (Specialty, Organic, 
Mainstream and Raised Without Antibiotics).
In both the “First Week Mortality Average” and the “Total 
Flock Mortality Average” the mortality levels line up very 
similar to last year. These graphs represent mortality 
levels over an entire year. Please note that we have used 
the difference between the number of birds placed and 
the payable birds shipped for the “Total Flock Mortality 
Average” graph. Condemns that are not deducted from 
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the growers and DOA’s will be included. The numbers 
from the “First Week Mortality Average” graph come 
from the BC111 Form that each grower sends in after 
placement. 

RWA TOTAL FLOCK 
MORTALITY & RWA FIRST 
WEEK MORTALITY
This includes only birds raised without antibiotics. 
Overall we have seen a slight decrease in the total flock 

mortality this year. These graphs represent mortality 
levels over an entire year. Please note that we have 
used the difference between the number of birds 
placed and the payable birds shipped for the “Total 
Flock Mortality Average (RWA)” graph. Condemns that 
are not deducted from the growers and DOA’s will be 
included. The numbers from the “First Week Mortality 
Average (RWA)” graph comes from the BC111 Form that 
each grower sends in after each placement.
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GOVERNANCE
GENERAL ORDERS 
UPDATES
The BCCMB General Orders were last fully updated 
August 26, 2011.  The completion of a full update of the 
General Orders was again delayed to allow for changes 
to the Live Pricing Methodology, changes to the NEG 
program and the FIRB review of the quota assessment 
tool.  

A copy of the most complete set of updated General 
Orders can be found on the website, and are available 
for download.  

In 2017, amendments were circulated to industry via 
email in January, May and October.  These amendments 
include:

zz  An amendment effective for quota period A-144 
(start of shipments June 11, 2017), allowing 
specialty growers to increase their maximum 
allowable density to 32.5 kg per square meter.  

zz  An amendment to under and over marketing 
policies to make our policy consistent with 
the Prairie Provinces with whom we share our 
allocation software program.  Effective in A-143 
carry forward occurs six cycles into the future (i.e. 
A-143 into A-149).  

zz  Stocking density for mainstream growers was 
increased effective for the start of quota period 
A-145 to the maximum allowable density permitted 
under the Animal Care Program of 38 kg per meter 
squared.  This puts BC on the same footing as 
chicken farmers across Canada.  

zz  The pricing formula has been amended to reflect 
the mediated agreement between the Board, PPAC, 
PPPABC and BCCGA.  It is effective the start of A-144 
(June 11, 2017). 

zz  Catching crews and catching contractors are to be 
licenced by the Board commencing January 2018.  

zz  A new prescribed form has been created for the 
catching/load out process, which is to be completed 

jointly between the grower (or representative) and 
the individual in charge of the catching crew.  The 
form must be signed by all parties and submitted 
to the BCCMB, the grower and the processor by the 
catching crew.  

zz  Growers must now be present three times during 
the catching/load out process (the beginning, the 
end and sometime in between.)

TEMPORARY MEASURES 
TO INCREASE BC’S 
PERIODIC QUOTA 
UTILIZATION
The BCCMB in 2017 continued to be concerned with 
BC’s record of quota utilization as the year progressed.  
The Board undertook a number of steps intended to 
encourage growers to maximize their production and 
meet their allotments. 

1. Effective in A-143 the Board announced the 
following as a temporary measure:

z� Growers that produce up to 102% of their 
periodic allotment will not have their allotment 
reduced four periods later.  Over marketing 
adjustments will be made on all production 
beyond 102%.

z� Monetary over marketing levies between 106% 
and 109.9% will be suspended.  Marketing’s 
above 109.9% will attract levies at the rate of 
$0.66 per kilogram.

z� These temporary measures will be reviewed on a 
period by period basis but will not in any case be 
amended prior to eggs sets for the first week of a 
new period.

2. Effective in A-147 the Board announced:

z� A decision to temporarily and until further notice 
amend Schedule 7, Section 3 of the BCCMB 
General Orders Lease of Quota Without Premises 
to allow for the leasing in of quota up to 100% of 
a grower’s domestic allotment.  

1 Strategic, Accountable, Fair, Effective, Transparent, Inclusive
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z�  Growers wishing to take advantage of this 
provision must have sufficient measured and 
certified barn space to accommodate the extra 
production.

z�  This measure is intended to provide the 
opportunity to fully utilize available barn space 
and to assist growers and processors in meeting 
BC’s national allocation.

z�  This amendment refers to the leasing IN (not 
out) of quota; all other provisions of Schedule 7 
remain in effect.

3. For an initial two year period beginning in Period 
A-149, ending in A-161: 
 

The Board will consider a temporary lease of 
unregistered barn space by a registered grower. 

z� To qualify, a grower must meet the requirements 
in Part 33 Barn Space at section 33.1 - have 
room for his entire allotment at a minimum of 
31 kg/square meter on his/her own premise.  
This includes any additional quota acquired or 
granted to a grower during the period the lease 
is in existence.  

z�  A written lease must be on file at the Board 
office. The lease must be for a building, not 
a floor or a portion of a floor.  The lease must 
specify the quota periods it covers and must 
terminate no later than the end of period A-161.  

z�  The leased space must be approved in advance 
by BCCMB field services staff prior to use.  Once 
approved, the leased space may be utilized in 
the next unallocated period.

z�  BCCMB field services staff are to be contacted if 
you have a facility that you are considering to 
lease or lease out.

FAIRLINE UPDATE
The sale of the Fairline property was completed in 2016, 
with the largest creditor Lloyd Investments being paid 
out.  The remainder of the funds were paid into court 
subject to a determination as to priority.  The BCCMB 
did not recover any further funds beyond the $2500 in 
costs as stated in the previous annual report.  

ELECTION RULES
During 2017, there was no election scheduled for a 
grower member to sit on the BCCMB Board.  During 
this period, the Board consulted with the BCCGA on any 
amendments to the existing rules.  After consultation 
in conjunction with the BCCGA, Board recommended 
to FIRB that the BCCMB Election Rules and Procedures 
remain unchanged apart from updating the election 
timeline.  The rules have only been used for the first 
time in 2016.  On October 2, 2017 FIRB approved the 
BCCMB Election Rules and Procedures.  

The 3-year term for Mr. Derek Janzen expires in March 
2018.  The Notice of Nomination will go out to all 
growers on January 2, 2018 by either Canada Post 
or email as indicated on each growers 2018 licence 
application form.  The election materials will come from 
the Council of Marketing Boards (Kristianne Hendricks, 
the new GM of COMB). 
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COMMODITY & SYSTEMS 
MANAGEMENT

MAINSTREAM  STATISTICS

SPECIALTY CHICKEN  STATISTICS

Organic Posted Live Price - 2017
Period Organic
A-141  $3.7900 

A-142  $3.7300 

A-143  $3.7800 

A-144  $3.7200 

A-145  $3.6700 

A-146  $3.5800 

A-147  $3.6600 

Regular Broiler Posted Live Price ($/kg live weight)
Period BC Live Price
A-141  $1.5802 

A-142  $1.5851 

A-143  $1.6011 

A-144  $1.6041 

A-145  $1.6070 

A-146  $1.6050 

A-147  $1.5800 

Difference (Jan - Dec)  $0.0248

Pricing for Specialty Chicken - 2017   (kilograms live weight)
Period Loong Kong Bradner SD Bradner Long 

Cycle
Shondon or Hong 
Kong Golden

Silkie

A-141  $2.59  $2.65  $2.76  $2.57  $4.03 

A-142  $2.59  $2.65  $2.76  $2.57  $4.03 

A-143  $2.57  $2.63  $2.73  $2.62  $3.96 

A-144  $2.57  $2.63  $2.73  $2.62  $3.96 

A-145  $2.55  $2.61  $2.71  $2.60  $3.94 

A-146  $2.55  $2.61  $2.71  $2.60  $3.94 

A-147  $2.60  $2.65  $2.76  $2.65  $3.98 

M A R K E T I N G  B O A R D

Source Sans Pro

2017 ANNUAL REPORT 23

COMMODITY & SYSTEM MANAGEMENT



2017 BC Broiler Quota Marketing Periods
Amount of quota marketings going through licence agencies in 2017:
Period Start Date End Date Mainstream Quota Utilization

A-141 25-Dec-16 18-Feb-17 101.19%

A-142 19-Feb-17 15-Apr-17 112.67%

A-143 16-Apr-17 10-Jun-17 113.13%

A-144 11-Jun-17 05-Aug-17 112.47%

A-145 06-Aug-17 30-Sep-17 114.04%

A-146 01-Oct-17 25-Nov-17 106.74%

A-147 26-Nov-17 20-Jan-18 106.88%

2017 Provincial Farm Gate Sales
Mainstream  $409,079,744.74 

Specialty (TC)  $13,656,813.49 

Organic  $25,713,654.90 

Specialty (Silkie)  $4,653,726.45 

Total  $453,103,939.57 

2017 BC Allocations received from CFC (Kg eviscerated weight)
Period Domestic (Broiler and 

Organic)
Market Development (Broiler, 
Organic and Specialty)

Specialty Allocation (TC 
and Silkie)

TOTAL ALLOCATION

A-141  23,061,922  1,228,695  650,111  24,940,728 

A-142  25,749,572  1,382,933  641,474  27,773,979 

A-143  25,405,445  1,939,811  622,204  27,967,460 

A-144  25,612,455  1,934,222  709,204  28,255,881 

A-145  25,453,862  1,900,261  651,564  28,005,687 

A-146  25,051,239  1,937,893  668,460  27,657,592 

A-147  24,545,253  1,557,641  740,789  26,843,683 

numbers provided by CFC

Provincial Quota Holdings 2017 (kgs live weight/cycle)
Lower  Mainland Vancouver  Island Interior Total

Growers Kilograms Growers Kilograms Growers Kilograms Growers % Kilograms %
Mainstream 224 26,350,676 11  509,647 50  3,824,307 285 88%  30,684,630 97%

Specialty 40  921,137 0  -   0 - 40 12%  921,137 3%

Total 264 27,271,813 11  509,647 50  3,824,307 325 100%  31,605,767 100%

% 81% 86% 3% 2% 15% 12%

2,000 bird 
(annual)  
Permit 
Holders

40 45 85 170

We have 318 Registered growers as 7 growers hold both Mainstream and Specialty Quota.
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Total Provincial Production (kilograms live weight)
Year Type Domestic Market Development Total

2017 Mainstream  216,443,944  10,383,741  226,827,685 

   Broilers  210,457,569  9,428,520  219,886,089 

   Organic  5,986,375  955,221  6,941,596 

Specialty  5,922,022  426,736  6,348,758 

    TC  5,178,640  -    5,178,640 

    Silkie  743,382  426,736  1,170,118 

Total  222,365,966  10,810,477  233,176,443 

Year Type Domestic Market Development Total

2016 Mainstream  210,988,576  9,449,214  220,437,790 

   Broilers  206,215,898  8,016,307  214,232,205 

   Organic  4,772,678  1,432,907  6,205,585 

Specialty  5,784,389  574,142  6,358,531 

    TC  5,309,671  -    5,309,671 

    Silkie  474,718  574,142  1,048,860 

Total  216,772,965  10,023,356  226,796,321 

In 2017 BC Produced 2.81 % more than  in 2016

Provincial Production of Chicken 2015-2017
Production from Jan. 1 to Dec. 31, 2015  - 2017 (eviscerated weight)
Province 2017 2016 17/16 2015 16/15

B.C. 171,920,699 167,564,855 2.6% 159,637,194 5.0%

Alberta 115,203,493 108,143,698 6.5% 101,335,140 6.7%

Saskatchewan 45,398,467 44,440,563 2.2% 41,967,153 5.9%

Manitoba 50,211,020 48,959,081 2.6% 46,433,698 5.4%

Western 382,733,679 369,108,197 3.7% 349,373,185 5.6%

Ontario 401,367,902 377,180,346 6.4% 363,452,712 3.8%

Quebec 327,918,412 311,143,246 5.4% 301,903,025 3.1%

Central 729,286,314 688,323,592 6.0% 665,355,737 3.5%

New Brunswick 32,571,220 31,736,830 2.6% 29,781,567 6.6%

Nova Scotia 40,799,498 39,498,174 3.3% 37,409,287 5.6%

P.E.I. 4,210,068 4,156,392 1.3% 3,793,157 9.6%

Newfoundland 13,849,819 15,648,563 -11.5% 14,380,109 8.8%

Atlantic 91,430,605 91,039,959 0.4% 85,364,120 6.6%

TOTAL 1,203,450,598 1,148,471,748 4.8% 1,100,093,042 4.4%
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Quota Utilization by Province (A-141)
A-141 (Dec 25/16 - Feb 18/17)

Province Allocation Production %

BC 33,924,614 33,327,504 98.2%

Alta. 22,761,063 22,694,462 99.7%

Sask. 9,315,551 9,320,979 100.1%

Man. 9,803,081 9,907,317 101.1%

Ont. 78,892,854 77,997,036 98.9%

Que. 65,695,177 66,745,295 101.6%

N.B. 6,511,463 6,378,547 98.0%

N.S. 8,087,763 7,955,349 98.4%

P.E.I. 868,710 862,019 99.2%

Nfld. 3,072,956 2,847,210 92.7%

Canada 238,933,232 238,035,718 99.6%

Quota Utilization by Province (A-142)
A-142 (Feb 19 - Apr 15/17)

Province Allocation Production %

BC 36,132,023 34,676,702 96.0%

Alta. 23,934,205 23,959,612 100.1%

Sask. 9,556,927 9,544,036 99.9%

Man. 10,211,120 10,269,227 100.6%

Ont. 82,090,508 78,182,954 95.2%

Que. 67,201,711 67,268,291 100.1%

N.B. 6,726,392 6,837,004 101.6%

N.S. 8,435,102 8,623,328 102.2%

P.E.I. 872,205 850,868 97.6%

Nfld. 3,402,897 3,251,957 95.6%

Canada 248,563,090 243,463,979 97.9%

Quota Utilization by Province (A-143)
A-143 (Apr 16 - June 10/17)

Province Allocation Production %

BC 37,276,250 36,550,000 98.1%

Alta. 23,963,435 23,914,506 99.8%

Sask. 9,476,075 9,491,579 100.2%

Man. 10,556,658 10,636,477 100.8%

Ont. 85,482,889 84,825,069 99.2%

Que. 69,116,483 69,250,649 100.2%

N.B. 6,946,237 6,847,740 98.6%

N.S. 8,689,566 8,453,110 97.3%

P.E.I. 871,676 890,898 102.2%

Nfld. 3,305,624 3,449,062 104.3%

Canada 255,684,893 254,309,090 99.5%

Quota Utilization by Province (A-144)
A-144 (June 11 - Aug 5/17)

Province Allocation Production %

BC 37,608,220 36,642,265 97.4%

Alta. 24,044,593 23,678,689 98.5%

Sask. 9,418,191 9,196,310 97.6%

Man. 10,539,979 10,632,926 100.9%

Ont. 84,884,636 83,664,225 98.6%

Que. 68,561,110 67,457,505 98.4%

N.B. 6,768,288 6,856,487 101.3%

N.S. 8,472,135 8,407,911 99.2%

P.E.I. 871,653 896,937 102.9%

Nfld. 3,302,105 3,240,317 98.1%

Canada 254,470,910 250,673,572 98.5%

The following is the Chicken Farmers of Canada 2017 total provincial quota allocation and the actual 
utilization levels (kgs live weight)
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Quota Utilization by Province (A-145)
A-145 (Aug 6 - Sept 30/17)

Province Allocation Production %

BC 37,105,166 36,208,196 97.6%

Alta. 24,506,021 24,687,200 100.7%

Sask. 9,592,116 9,501,596 99.1%

Man. 10,494,077 10,857,307 103.5%

Ont. 85,429,301 85,102,457 99.6%

Que. 69,101,407 68,268,804 98.8%

N.B. 6,741,299 7,160,109 106.2%

N.S. 8,461,626 8,869,723 104.8%

P.E.I. 902,472 917,100 101.6%

Nfld. 3,389,784 3,504,142 103.4%

Canada 255,723,269 255,076,634 99.7%

Quota Utilization by Province (A-147)
A-147 (Nov 26/17 - Jan 20/18)

Province Allocation Production %

BC 35,671,735 36,191,218 101.5%

Alta. 24,613,602 24,815,394 100.8%

Sask. 9,509,397 9,672,685 101.7%

Man. 10,000,137 10,269,081 102.7%

Ont. 84,559,109 86,744,293 102.5%

Que. 67,950,458 66,910,036 98.5%

N.B. 6,606,332 6,988,623 105.8%

N.S. 8,270,452 8,599,672 104.0%

P.E.I. 913,990 919,367 100.6%

Nfld. 3,272,984 2,163,873 66.1%

Canada 251,368,196 253,274,242 100.7%

Quota Utilization by Province (TOTAL)
TOTAL (A-141 to A-147)

Province Allocation Production %

BC 218,712,029 214,833,500 98.2%

Alta. 143,848,343 143,580,650 99.8%

Sask. 56,927,088 56,627,767 99.5%

Man. 136,982,606 137,189,824 100.2%

Ont. 486,985,197 482,655,123 99.1%

Que. 347,694,453 347,541,250 100.0%

N.B. 40,424,965 40,702,628 100.7%

N.S. 50,596,508 50,846,857 100.5%

P.E.I. 5,294,946 5,337,985 100.8%

Nfld. 19,782,907 18,227,991 92.1%

Canada 1,761,057,354 1,751,649,015 99.5%

Quota Utilization by Province (A-146)
A-146 (Oct 1 - Nov 25/17)

Province Allocation Production %

BC 36,665,756 37,428,833 102.1%

Alta. 24,639,026 24,646,181 100.0%

Sask. 9,568,228 9,573,267 100.1%

Man. 10,434,781 10,694,427 102.5%

Ont. 85,973,162 87,296,958 101.5%

Que. 69,633,438 69,160,471 99.3%

N.B. 6,731,286 6,622,741 98.4%

N.S. 8,450,316 8,537,436 101.0%

P.E.I. 908,230 920,163 101.3%

Nfld. 3,309,541 1,935,303 58.5%

Canada 256,313,764 256,815,780 100.2%

Source:  CFC and AAFC (AAFC data where CFC data is incomplete)   
The Allocation information above includes all inter-provindial quota transfers and revisions to market 
development/export commitments.
Note: Allocation includes both domestic and market development. Production is all birds processed in each province.
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Region Type   # kgs Balance
Interior Mainstream 125,732 125,732

Island Mainstream 28,811 154,543

L Mainland Mainstream 95,342 249,885

Peace**** Mainstream 8,902 258,787

**** The Peace River area is not a distinct region under the BCCMB General Orders 
and would normally be included in the Interior region.  It is cut out to show that 
our two quota holders in the North qualified for and were issued increases to their 
base NEG quotas under this program.

Region Type   # kgs Balance
Interior Mainstream 48,379 48,379

Island Mainstream 19,645 68,024

L Mainland Mainstream 41,929 109,953

ISSUANCE OF NEG QUOTA 
2017 
Under the methodology contained in Schedule 9 
(Part 49) (Section 49.21) and retracted under Part 35 
Quota Transfer Assessment the Board deemed a total 
of 113,088 kilograms of quota to be available for 
distribution to qualifying new and deemed new entrant 
growers in 2017. 

In November of 2016 the Board voted to increase the 
entry level for mainstream new entrant growers from 
11,189 kilograms per period to 20,000.  Existing new 
entrant growers were provided with the opportunity to 
apply for increases to their quotas from their present 
levels to the new entry level of 20,000.  A number 
of growers that had extra space were able to take 
advantage of this opportunity in the next unallocated 
period.  Those that did not have space were provided 
with 365 days to add additional space.  By the end of 
2017 all growers that were eligible for the increase 
applied and provided the required barn space to qualify.  
In addition, a number of growers took advantage of 
the “buy one, get one” provisions of the amended new 
entrant grower program during the first year of the three 
year offer which will expire on January 1, 2020.

The following quotas were distributed to growers in 
2017 who either qualified for an increase to their existing 
NEG quotas or who were qualified to begin production 
at the new entry level of 20,000 kilograms per cycle.  All 
issuance in 2017 were mainstream quota. 

In addition to the quotas issued under the increased 
entry level, a number of growers took advantage of the 
“buy one, get one” program introduced in November of 

2016 as part of the amended New Entrant Program for 
Growers.  Quotas issued under this part of the program: 

Total incentive quotas issued in 2017: 

368,740 kilograms
Available for distribution in 2017:

113,088 kilograms
Deficit:

255,652 kilograms

LOOKING AHEAD TO 2018
Using the methodology contained in Part 49 New 
Entrant Program for Growers of the General Orders 
the BCCMB has determined the available kilograms 
of quota available for distribution to qualifying new 
entrant and deemed new entrant growers in 2018 to be:

zz 117,143 kilograms = 5% of quota transfers based on 
a 3 year rolling average  

zz  Plus 4,472 retracted under Part 35 Quota Transfer 
Assessment of the BCCMB General Orders  

zz  121,615 kilograms available for distribution in 2017  

zz  255,652 kilograms over allocated in 2017  

zz  134,037 kilogram deficit that will be carried forward 
into 2018  

We anticipate that this deficit will be reduced by 
deemed assessments on quota transfers in 2018 but 
could increase due to the existing new entrants that 
have not as of yet taken up the “ buy one, get one” offer 
which will expire on January 1, 2020.

The BCCMB remains committed in 2018 to our New 
Entrant Program for growers that will continue to 
address the needs of regional, mainstream and 
specialty production and processing.  

28 M A R K E T I N G  B O A R D

Source Sans Pro

2017 ANNUAL REPORT

COMMODITY & SYSTEM MANAGEMENT CONTINUED



CORPORATE 
SOCIAL 
RESPONSIBILITY
INDUSTRY SATISFACTION 
SURVEY
Using the services of the Council of Marketing Boards, 
BCCMB surveyed industry stakeholders for their 
satisfaction in November 2017 for the fourth year in a 
row.   The Board has noted declines in satisfaction in 
certain measures of information/communication, 
policies and operations.  The survey results and 
comments provided by survey respondents were 
carefully reviewed by the Board and will be taken into 
consideration for future planning and decision making.  

The two or three most important things the Board could 
do to strengthen the industry in the next year are:

POULTRY CONFERENCE
The Board on November 27, 2017 voted in favour of a 
further three year commitment for the joint BC Poultry 
Conference.  Registered chicken grower participation 
has increased by 3% over the past year.  All growers are 
encouraged to attend and participate at the AGM and 
the seminars held throughout the 2 day event.  

CONSUMER 
ENGAGEMENT
Chicken SquadTM Investigates 
In September, we updated the Chicken Squad website 
(chickensquad.ca) with a new modern look and new 
content from the “Chicken Squad Investigates” series.  
The series featured three episodes covering topics that 
are top concerns for consumers:  the different choices of 
chicken, animal care and antibiotic use.  In December, 
we created five re-edited 20-35 second “cut-downs” 
from the longer videos that will be used on our social 
media channels.

M A R K E T I N G  B O A R D

Source Sans Pro

2017 ANNUAL REPORT 29

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY



BC Chicken Blog 
Effective January 2017, BC Chicken Marketing Board 
began posting monthly blogs on bcchicken.ca.  These 
blogs not only provide content for our social media 
channels, but they also help keep our website content 
current.  The most popular blog of 2017 was titled “BC 
Chicken – Everything You Need to Know.”

Crisis Communications 
From May 10 to June 9, 2017, animal activist group 
Mercy for Animals filmed an undercover video of 
chicken catching at BC broiler farms.  On June 13, 
the day after the footage was released to the media, 
BCCMB published a formal statement on our website.  
In addition, we hosted journalists from all three major 
BC television networks (CBC, CTV and Global) in our 
office where they interviewed BCCMB Board Member 
Ray Nickel.  BCCMB worked closely with CFC and other 
industry partners to ensure our communications were 
transparent and accountable.  

SYSCO VICTORIA
BCCMB has been approached by local food service 
distributor Sysco Victoria to help educate local chefs 
and food service industry professionals about chicken 
production.

In October, we participated in Sysco Victoria’s October 
Food Fest, where we gave a presentation about chicken 
farming to chefs and food service industry purchasers. 

In December, we took a group of 25 chefs on a tour 
of a local chicken farm.  We thank the Jack family of 
Saanichton, BC for hosting this tour on their farm.  

TAKE A BITE OF BC 
The BC Chicken Marketing Board continues to support 
BC Agriculture in the Classroom’s “Take a Bite of 
BC” program.  In 2017, BC Chicken Marketing Board 
supplied 1,060 fresh whole chicken to 53 secondary 
schools where culinary arts students practiced 
deboning, cutting and preparing chicken dishes to 
serve to a total of 12,968 students and teachers.   

“Fantastic product!!! We roasted the chickens 
whole in the oven early in the morning and 
served an entire Greek Dinner for lunch. We 
used the rest of the chicken for stock and the 
remaining chicken in wraps for lunch the next 
day. A great way to showcase to students how 
one dish can be stretched to many meals.” 
Chef Jennifer Gray, Clarence Fulton Secondary, Vernon

SOCIAL MEDIA
BCCMB’s Chicken SquadTM social media channels 
continue to be an active source of information for 
consumers.  On our channels we share delicious 
chicken recipes, contests, cooking tips, health 
information, informative videos and posts 
celebrating local chicken farming.

In 2017, we gained 89 new Facebook followers with 
3,898 engaged users, reaching 97,981 people and 
making 142,503 impressions.  

On Twitter, our followers grew to over 13,000 with 
over 400 likes/retweets.  Our Pinterest account is a 
popular source of chicken recipes, with 2,459 monthly 
viewers.  In 2018, we will begin sharing pictures and 
videos regularly on Instagram; a popular and growing 
social media channel.  
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SPECIALTY CHICKEN 
MARKETING CAMPAIGN 
In 2017, we completed our “Specialty Asian Chicken” 
promotion to develop and promote marketing 
materials to increase consumption of specialty Asian 
chicken in BC.  

In February, we filmed a television commercial at the 
Specialty Chicken and Wonton House in Richmond, 
BC.  The commercial was featured on 30 second spots 
on OMNI (Rogers) in March and April during a variety of 
Mandarin and Cantonese language television shows, 
reaching approximately 70,000 viewers.  

In May, we held two on-location radio remote 
broadcasts via Fairchild Radio at Price Smart Foods in 
Burnaby and Richmond.  At these locations, we served 
samples of BC-raised Taiwanese chicken.  We knew that 
these promotions increased sales because store staff 
had to refill the coolers several times!  

PUBLIC TRUST
Building public trust for BC agriculture is a belief that 
activities are consistent with social expectations and 
the values of the community and stakeholders.  In 
addition to our own marketing and communications 
plan, BCCMB staff have been working closely with BC 
Agriculture Council and other industry stakeholders 
to discuss ways we can collaborate on public trust 
initiatives.  

POLICY UPDATE - QUOTA 
ASSESSMENT TOOLS 
In 2017, the BC Farm Industry Review Board (BC 
FIRB) directed all five supply managed Boards to 
evaluate quota transfer assessments.  After consulting 
with stakeholders, reviewing available data, and 
researching the assessments used in other sectors, we 
concluded that quota transfer restrictions can have 
unintended consequences when they are applied to 
long term growers.  We submitted our final report on 
June 30, 2017.  BC FIRB is reviewing the submissions 
from all supply managed Marketing Boards in BC and 
will provide further direction in 2018.   

Poultry In Motion at PNE
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GROWER DASHBOARD 
LAUNCH
The Grower Dashboard was launched in August of 
2017 after beta testing by members of the BCCGA and 
CFC.  It will provide BC Chicken Growers the ability 
to record their daily barn checks as well as record 
their mandatory On-Farm Food Safety, Animal Care 
and Biosecurity Program requirements on a web-
based database. Once growers input their data, the 
Dashboard will populate the required forms. For 
example, 7 days after chick placement the Dashboard 
will provide a notice to growers to fill out their Grower 
Chick Placement Form BC111, which the Dashboard 
will populate automatically as long as the grower has 
entered in his/her first week of daily barn checks.

The Dashboard will populate and store electronic 
copies of the Grower Chick Placement Form (BC111), BC 
Specific Flock Information Reporting Form (commonly 
referred to as the “flock sheet”) and CFC On-Farm Food 
Safety Assurance Program and Animal Care Program 
Flock-Specific Records (Blue Sheet) for each A-period. 
Growers have the ability to tailor their Dashboard to 
report by farm site, by barn or by floor. Farm owners 
can grant a farm manager access to their Dashboard 
to enter daily checks and will let owners know if daily 
checks have been completed. The Dashboard is also 
equipped to record daily checks without internet 
connection and upload them once an internet signal is 
received. Growers can access their Dashboard on any 
type of mobile device.

RESEARCH
CANADIAN POULTRY CONSULTANTS LTD. – DR. RITCHIE

PLEASE FIND BELOW A SUMMARY OF THE RESEARCH 
AND CONTINUING EDUCATION PROJECTS CONDUCTED 
IN 2017.

Research Summary

Raising broilers without the use of 
antibiotics
zz As more companies move towards raising broilers 

without the use of antibiotics there is a significant 
requirement for more research on how to execute 
these programs successfully. We are developing 
new management techniques and standards 
to successfully raise flocks without the use of 
antibiotics. This research is focused on enhancing 
gut health (antibiotic alternatives, gastrointestinal 
physiology, and management practices) to manage 
diseases such as coccidiosis and necrotic enteritis.

zz There are numerous factors involved, including 
the importance of early feed intake and the 
establishment of a steady state eating pattern.  

zz  Interactions with other pathogenic organisms may 
trigger intestinal disease and research focused 
on disease prevention strategies that allow for 
very early establishment of normal gut flora was 
initiated. 

z� The development of a coccidiosis-specific set 
of management criteria designed to improve 
the ability for chickens to become immune to 
coccidiosis.  This is now an integral part of the 
educational component taught in the Platinum 
Brooding® Program.

z�  Litter treatments that involve the inclusion of 
facultative anaerobic spore forming enzyme-
producing bacteria, acidification and coccidiosis 
vaccine treatments of the zone of comfort of the 
seeding area.

z�  Protocols for using misters to initiate sporulation 
where dry litter (often top floors) impedes 
sporulation of coccidial oocysts.
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z�  Understanding and applying interventions to 
reduce the impact of Salmonella enteritidis and 
reduce secondary necrotic enteritis.

zz  Salmonella enteritidis

z�  Salmonella, in particular Salmonella enteritidis, 
is an important disease-causing agent affecting 
both poultry and human health. There is 
literature which reports interactions with 
Salmonella enteritidis, coccidiosis and necrotic 
enteritis.  Significant effort has, and continues to 
be made, to control the risk posed by Salmonella 
at all levels of the broiler and broiler meat 
processing industries. Research was initiated to 
help prevent the spread of Salmonella through 
the use of litter amendments, researching and 
developing methods to best monitor for this 
pathogen as well as developing intervention 
strategies to reduce the levels of Salmonella that 
enter the plant.

zz  Working with a Canadian diagnostic company in 
their design of a just in time diagnostic kit for use in 
the field.

zz  Utilization of litter treatment protocols designed 
to improve intestinal health through the addition 
of facultative anaerobic spore-forming enzyme-
producing probiotics in the zone of comfort.

zz  Utilization of drinking water acidification protocols.

zz  Utilization of drinking water probiotic protocols.

 
Coccidiosis Prevention Planner©

z� The prevention of coccidiosis and necrotic 
enteritis in all commercial broiler farming 
systems requires short, medium and long term 
planning strategies.  These intestinal diseases 
are prevented through an understanding of 
the various interactions between the chicken, 
the environment and the causative agents.  
Disciplined coccidiosis prevention strategies 
are very effective in minimizing the significant 
negative impact associated with coccidiosis and 
necrotic enteritis, not only on performance, but 
also on welfare, health, antibiotic resistance 
and food safety.  Disciplined coccidiosis and 
necrotic enteritis strategies are also extremely 
important for the long term sustainability of the 

various additives currently permitted for use in 
the feed. We are researching and developing 
a new computer-based Coccidiosis Prevention 
Planner© to provide easy access to a library of 
information relative to available coccidiostats, 
antibacterial, and other custom ingredients. 
The CPP output also produces an annual “cocci 
wheel” allowing the user to efficiently archive 
and share planning and results in an easy to 
interpret multidimensional diagram. In the 
future, this new tool will help with the successful, 
long-term management of coccidiosis. The CPP 
will be evaluated as a tool to guide and record 
disease prevention decisions. 

z� The Coccidiosis Prevention Planner© is now 
being utilized by professors for teaching-
purposes.  The feedback gleaned will be used 
to fine-tune the software to better fit local 
conditions

z� The Coccidiosis Prevention Planner© is 
currently being used to record and plan 
feeding programs in British Columbia and 
Alberta.

z� Due to the increased multi-provincial 
and multinational use of the Coccidiosis 
Prevention Planner©, the medication table 
in the Coccidiosis Prevention Planner© 
has recently received great interest from 
multiple stakeholders.  All medications in this 
table are now being regularly maintained 
by third parties to ensure accuracy in the 
Canadian and USA versions of the software.  
This stakeholder partnership has further 
increased the utility of the Coccidiosis 
Prevention Planner and we expect it to grow 
throughout the years.

ELT and litter enhancement procedures
zz New strategies for litter management are being 

developed and evaluated for their effect on 
environmental pathogen levels, overall flock health 
and performance, Salmonella enteritidis, and 
necrotic enteritis control. This research involves the 
acidification of litter and the addition of various 
facultative anaerobic spore forming, enzyme 
producing bacteria (Enhanced Litter Treatment). 
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Field Safety trials for new coccidiosis 
vaccines
zz  Field safety trials have been conducted to 

demonstrate the safety of new vaccines prior to 
registration.

zz  Evaluation of chicks hatched with increased vitality 
associated with improved yolk sac utilization.

Immune system support
zz  An evaluation of a new innate immunity stimulant.

Biodefense
zz  The evaluation of new continuous, occupied space 

disinfection technology, including insect control.

Education, outreach and 
continuing education opportunities 
in BC where innovations and 
solutions are shared

UBC animal welfare sessions
zz  Every year, UBC’s animal welfare class is invited to 

the research farm to discuss animal welfare and 
broiler production.

Platinum Brooding® classes
zz  http://www.platinumbrooding.com.  Over fifty 

classes have been conducted in BC since its 
inception.  There have been a number of classes at 
the University of Arkansas, the University of Georgia, 
throughout North America, Asia and Australia.

Platinum Brooding® app and dashboard
zz Significant resources have been spent developing 

the Platinum Brooding® App and Dashboard that 
collects, analyses and reports real-time data to 
improve performance and husbandry.  This uses the 
Platinum Brooding® Checklist© that was developed 
and taught at 415964 B.C. Inc.

BCPS (BC Poultry Symposium)
zz  This event is held in May each year, providing an 

opportunity to share advances in research and 
development with all stakeholders.

Western Meeting of Poultry Clinicians and 
Pathologists (Westvet)
zz  This event is held in May each year, providing an 

opportunity for poultry clinicians and scientists to 
share case studies, discoveries, innovations and 
solutions.

University of the Fraser Valley 
zz  415964 B.C. used as an outreach and teaching 

facility for instructors and student enrolled at the 
university.

Environmental Stewardship and 
Sustainability
Initiation of a poultry industry-tailored sustainability 
project:  The commercial operation has been fitted 
with a solar power recapture system and a rain water 
recapture system.  Water safety and treatment protocols 
are being evaluated.  The mathematical verification of 
environmental impact metrics are being developed.

Dr. Xiaonan Lu – Research project

During the past 6 months of this project, we mainly 
focused on chicken experiment to test the effect of 
vaccinations. Extensive chicken experiment was 
conducted to test the effect of the encapsulated 
bioactive compounds and Lactobacillus on 
Salmonella and C. jejuni colonization of chickens.
 
The detailed protocols of the chicken experiments 
were summarized in the “research data” file along 
with the photos of the major steps of the chicken 
experiments shown in the last progress report 
(Jan – Jun 2017) as well as the attached research 
data in the current report. Because the previously 
encapsulated Lactobacillus and diallyl sulfide did 
not show a significant elimination effect against 
Campylobacter in chicken GI tract, we attempted to 
use other bioactive compounds isolated from other 
plants, conducted the microencapsulation, and 
performed the chicken experiment again during the 
past 6 months.
 
Three bioactive compounds, namely carvacrol, 
cinnamon oil and curcumin, were selected. The 
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encapsulation of these compounds was conducted. 
The detailed procedure was included in the attached 
research data. We then tested the antimicrobial 
effect of each encapsulated bioactive compound 
against both Campylobacter and Salmonella. We 
also tested the synergistic antimicrobial effect 
between the encapsulated bioactive compound 
and the encapsulated Lactobacillus against both 
Campylobacter and Salmonella. We used three 
different approaches to analyze the antimicrobial 
data as well as the synergistic antimicrobial data. 
The three approaches are: time-killing method, 
fractional inhibitory concentration index method, and 
mathematical modeling. In brief, the encapsulated 
cinnamon oil along with the encapsulated 
Lactobacillus were selected for the following chicken 
experiment in that this combinational treatment 
offered the enhanced synergistic antimicrobial effect 
and reduced the treatment towards both Salmonella 
and Campylobacter.
 
By conducting the chicken experiment, neither the 
individual encapsulated bioactive compound nor the 
encapsulated Lactobacillus could significantly reduce 
the colonization of Campylobacter and Salmonella 
in chickens. In contrast, the synergistic treatment 
of the encapsulated Lactobacillus and cinnamon 
oil could significantly reduce the colonization of 
both Campylobacter and Salmonella in chickens. 
The reduction level was about 100 times compared 
to the positive control group. However, this synergy 
treatment was unable to completely eliminate the 
colonized pathogens in chicken gastrointestinal tract.

Xiaonan Lu

RWA Project - Nutrichick Feed 
Consulting
After thorough review of the 2016 finding and conclusion 
which appeared in the 2016 BCCMB Annual Report, 
and consultation with the BCCGA, the research permit 
#2016-01 was not renewed for 2017.  
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CHICKEN INDUSTRY 
CONCLUDES NEW 
FEDERAL PROVINCIAL 
AGREEMENT AND 
WELCOMES ALBERTA 
BACK INTO THE FLOCK
The final step in concluding a new Federal Provincial 
Agreement for Chicken (FPA) was completed on October 
31st, 2017, when the Farm Products Council of Canada 
determined that Governor-in-Council approval is not 
required for the new FPA.

This brings to close more than 8 years of discussions and 
negotiations to arrive at a new allocation methodology 
that is not only supported by all federal and provincial 
signatories, but also delivers on the requirements of 
the Farm Products Agencies Act for Chicken Farmers 
of Canada (CFC) to take comparative advantage into 
account when allocating production growth.

The new FPA provides increased certainty to all industry 
stakeholders. “With it, we have the tools we need to 
grow, develop and thrive” added Benoît Fontaine, Chair 
of Chicken Farmers of Canada. “This FPA marks our 
industry’s total commitment to a dynamic and always 
evolving supply management system for chicken.”

With the new FPA in hand, the Canadian chicken 
industry welcomed back Alberta Chicken Producers 
into the agreement, bringing all provinces back into the 
system.

Alberta had withdrawn from the FPA in 2013, but 
continued to work with CFC on the modernization of the 
allocation system, to ensure that Canadians from coast 

to coast continue to enjoy a steady supply of fresh, high-
quality, Canadian-grown chicken.

“Our focus on responding quickly to the changing 
demands of consumers in every province, and to 
meeting all our challenges, are among the many reasons 
we are a Canadian success story,” said Fontaine, “We’re 
excited to have all our provinces back on board.”

This comes at a time when the Raised by a Canadian 
Farmer brand is gaining increased awareness in the 
marketplace. Consumers know that when they buy 
chicken with the Raised by a Canadian Farmer logo, 
they are getting chicken raised by farmers with a 
commitment to excellence in food safety, animal care 
and sustainability.

“The agreement provides strength to the Canadian 
chicken industry and shows that we can work together 
to evolve our supply management system for the 
benefit of all,” said Michael Laliberté, Executive Director.

Supply management is a uniquely Canadian response 
to market volatility in a perishable product market. 
Consumer demand is rarely static. It changes as a result 
of demographic shifts, immigration from countries with 
different food preferences, and new science related to 
human health and nutrition.

This latest FPA is paramount to the Canadian chicken 
industry’s continued strategic growth. The active 
support and participation of the federal and provincial 
governments enhances the nation’s international trade 
position, backing Canada’s right to use the marketing 
systems of its choice.

RAISED BY A CANADIAN 
FARMER MEANS EVEN 
MORE NOW
Chicken Farmers of Canada has expanded its Raised by 
a Canadian Farmer brand to incorporate the programs 
that farmers use to raise their birds to the highest 
standards of care, quality and sustainability.

Canadian chicken farmers have always been proud to 
provide Canadians with the highest quality chicken.
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zz Our farmers adhere to a strict mandatory On-Farm 
Food Safety Program, a national standard that 
has received federal, provincial and territorial 
government recognition and full recognition by the 
Canadian Food Inspection Agency.

zz They also adhere to a strict, mandatory and 
auditable Animal Care Program to ensure high 
animal care standards are being upheld on 
Canadian chicken farms across Canada. It is 
also third-party audited by NSF International, an 
internationally-recognized, third-party certification 
body, accredited by the American National 
Standards Institute, to ISO 17065.

zz Farmers are also committed to sustainability 
through innovation, by preserving the health of the 
land, providing value to Canada’s economy, and 
making affordable food for Canadians.

“The Raised by a Canadian Farmer” brand is 
synonymous with origin and quality – but both 
consumers and farmers wanted it to mean more,” 
explains Chicken Farmers of Canada Chair Benoît 
Fontaine, “Now, when consumers choose chicken with 
the Raised by a Canadian Farmer logo, they know that 
they’re getting the best from their local farmers.”

These new logos also give farmers recognizable symbols 
that they can use to demonstrate the innovation, pride 
and hard work they put in every day to implement some 
of the highest standards in food safety and animal care, 
and it proudly confirms their commitment to keeping 
their work environmentally, economically and socially 
sustainable.

“Farmers are consumers, too,” explains Fontaine, “We 
take great pride in being able to bring Canada’s number 

one protein to tables from coast to coast, including 
our own. It makes sense that the Raised by a Canadian 
Farmer brand becomes a part of what we do as farmers, 
so we can show the world that we are committed to 
doing everything we can to maintain our hard-earned 
trust.”

CANADIAN 
CHICKEN INDUSTRY 
FURTHER REDUCING 
ANTIMICROBIAL USE
Following the successful elimination of Category 
I antibiotics for disease prevention in Canadian 
chicken production, Chicken Farmers of Canada has 
established timelines to further its strategy to eliminate 
the preventative use of antimicrobials of human 
importance.

The antimicrobial use (AMU) strategy eliminates the 
preventative use of Category II antimicrobials by the end 
of 2018, and sets a goal to eliminate the preventative 
use of Category III antibiotics by the end of 2020.

Chicken Farmers of Canada’s policy will maintain the 
use of ionophores (those antimicrobials not used in 
human medicine) along with antibiotics for therapeutic 
purposes to maintain the health and welfare of birds.

“Chicken Farmers of Canada has been a leader in 
antimicrobial stewardship, and this strategy provides 
continued confidence to consumers, customers, 
and to governments,” said Benoît Fontaine, Chair of 
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Chicken Farmers of Canada. “This strategy provides a 
sustainable means of meeting consumer expectations, 
while maintaining the ability for farmers to protect the 
health and wellbeing of their birds.”

Consumers can be assured that Canadian chicken is 
free of antibiotic residues, and has been for decades. 
Canada has strict regulations with respect to antibiotic 
use and withdrawal times to ensure that chicken 
reaching the marketplace does not contain residues, 
which is monitored by the Canadian Food Inspection 
Agency.

This decision builds on the objective of eliminating the 
preventative use of antibiotics of human importance, 
guided by a comprehensive strategy that involves 
reduction, surveillance, education, and research.

The AMU strategy is consistent with the Canadian 
government’s Action Plan on Antimicrobial Resistance 
and Use.

CHICKEN CONTINUES TO 
BE CANADA’S FAVORITE 
MEAT
Canadians each consumed 32.5 kg (per capita) of 
chicken in 2016 resulting in the highest level of chicken 
consumption in Canada ever.

This confirms that chicken is the favorite of Canadian 
grocery shoppers and continues to be an important 
part of the nutritious meals they feed to their families. 
Chicken has been the first choice of Canadians for 
over a decade, when chicken per capita (per person) 
consumption passed beef for first place, and it has 
remained in first place ever since.

“Chicken is number one for Canadians who want a 
healthy and nutritious choice for themselves and their 
families,” said Benoît Fontaine, Chair of Chicken Farmers 
of Canada. “Our farmers are proud to raise high-quality, 
nutritious chicken for Canadians. We have been doing 
this for generations and it’s good to know that our hard 
work is recognized.”

2016 was one of the most successful years ever for the 
chicken industry, with production increasing by 4% to 
a total of 1.148 billion kg of fresh, nutritious Canadian 
chicken for consumers.

Trust is a big reason behind the ongoing success of the 
Canadian chicken industry.

In a recent survey, 93% of Canadians said they prefer 
to feed their families food raised by Canadian farmers—
that support is behind the new “Raised by a Canadian 
Farmer” brand logo. Now Canadians can have 
confidence in knowing where their food comes from by 
looking for the brand—and trust that it was raised safely 
by a Canadian farmer.

“We have a responsibility to our consumers, to keep 
their food safe, to protect them, and to humanely and 
carefully raise the animals we grow,” added Fontaine. 
“Canadian chicken farms are run by hardworking men 
and women and the birds are being raised to the highest 
standards for food safety and animal care.”
Canadian chicken farmers work hard each day to 
provide the best possible care for their birds, and to 
ensure their health and welfare. Canadian consumers 
have high expectations of their farmers, from the 
assurance of a steady supply to ensuring excellence 
and best practices in animal care and food safety. 
Canada’s chicken farmers are proud to deliver on these 
expectations, with every flock.

CHICKEN FARMERS OF 
CANADA’S MANDATORY 
ANIMAL CARE PROGRAM 
PASSES THIRD-PARTY 
AUDIT WITH FLYING 
COLOURS
Chicken Farmers of Canada delivers ‘effective and 
consistent’ national animal welfare program: Third-
Party Auditor.

Chicken Farmers of Canada’s strong commitment to 
animal care has been confirmed with the completion 
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of an inaugural comprehensive third-party audit. NSF 
International’s report concluded that “The national 
Animal Care Program has been implemented effectively 
and maintained on an on-going basis. Animal care 
measures have been consistently applied.”

Canadian chicken farmers work hard each day to provide 
the best possible care for their birds, and to ensure their 
health and welfare. The Raised by a Canadian Farmer 
Animal Care Program is a clear demonstration of their 
commitment to animal care. Chicken Farmers of Canada 
has implemented a strong program and certification 
process and it is the only program capable of ensuring 
that animal care standards are implemented and 
audited on all chicken farms in Canada. Further to that, 
the program is a way to provide continuing education 
to farmers about best practices and to drive innovation 
and improvement.

Under the Raised by a Canadian Farmer Animal 
Care Program, audits are conducted annually on all 
Canadian chicken farms. It is a mandatory program with 
enforcement measures for issues of non-compliance 
and the program guarantees one national standard for 
consistency of requirements and record-keeping on all 
chicken farms in Canada.

Chicken Farmers of Canada has been administering 
a national Animal Care Program on all 2,800 broiler 
chicken farms across Canada since 2009. Since 2016, 
the implementation of the program by farmers and the 
effectiveness of the audit team are subject to an annual 
third-party audit. NSF performs the third-party audits 
using PAACO (Professional Animal Auditor Certification 
Organization) certified auditors to ensure the effective 
and consistent implementation of the program.

NSF is an internationally-recognized, third-party 
certification body, accredited by the American 
National Standards Institute to ISO 17065. Their 
auditors are professionals with years of experience 
performing animal care and food safety audits for the 
agricultural sector. Third-party audits were conducted 
in all provinces and over 90% of on-farm auditors were 
evaluated.

The program has credible, science-based foundations 
in that it is based on the Code of Practice for the Care 
and Handling of Hatching Eggs, Breeders, Chickens and 

Turkeys, as developed by the National Farm Animal Care 
Council (NFACC). NFACC is a world leader in bringing 
together stakeholders with different perspectives 
– farmers, veterinarians, processors, transporters, 
animal welfare associations, and provincial/federal 
governments – to develop robust and sound Codes of 
Practice.

NFACC’s Code Development process begins with a full 
scientific review which is used to draft the Code that 
then undergoes a public consultation process. In this 
way, all Canadians have an opportunity to contribute to 
the final Code.

With the Code of Practice for chicken recently finalized 
in 2016, CFC has begun implementing the new 
requirements and is in the process of updating the 
Animal Care Program by engaging a group of competent 
experts using NFACC’s Animal Care Assessment 
Framework.

And Chicken Farmers of Canada is not stopping here.
Looking forward, Chicken Farmers of Canada will 
continue funding animal care research as a priority area 
– to enhance future versions of the Code of Practice and 
farm management practices.

In addition, Chicken Farmers of Canada is petitioning 
the federal government to implement a recognition 
protocol for animal care in Agriculture and Agri-Food 
Canada’s next Agricultural Policy Framework, similar 
to the successful on-farm food safety recognition 
protocol. Such a recognition system would leverage 
the work performed by NFACC and organizations such 
as Chicken Farmers of Canada that are implementing 
one auditable, mandatory standard to effectively 
demonstrate the level of animal care on Canadian 
farms.

Chicken Farmers of Canada’s leadership in animal 
care will continue to evolve as we commit to 
working with the experts – including all industry 
stakeholder organizations from farm to table, the 
research community and government regulators – to 
continuously monitor animal care. This commitment 
provides confidence to our customers and consumers 
of the high standards of animal care which are the 
foundations of our “Raised by a Canadian Farmer” 
brand. 
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Background:
Chicken Farmers of Canada introduced its “Raised 
by a Canadian Farmer” brand in 2013 to showcase 
the commitment of farmers to provide families with 
nutritious chicken raised to the highest standards of 
care, quality and freshness.

RETIREMENT OF MIKE 
DUNGATE
Mike Dungate, the former Executive Director at Chicken 
Farmers of Canada, retired at the end of 2017, having 
served for 22 years with the organization.

When Mike joined us at Chicken Farmers of Canada 
on January 29, 1996, he was brought on board as 
Head, Trade, Policy and Economics. It was part of an 
Interchange Agreement with what was then called 
the Department of Foreign Affairs and International 
Trade. We were just about to go through a formal name 
change, from the Canadian Chicken Marketing Agency 
to Chicken Farmers of Canada, which we did in 1997. 

In May, 1997, with the announcement of the departure 
of Cynthia Currie, Mike became the Acting General 
Manager on May 19th, 1997, and was hired as General 
Manager on July 14th.During his 22 years with Chicken 
Farmers of Canada, our objectives and responsibilities 
increased and evolved, often requiring more staff 
resources to take on these additional challenges. Staff 
increased from 14 members in 1997 to the team of 
26 that it is today.Within his mandate, first as General 
Manager, then later as Executive Director once his 
title changed, Mike worked tirelessly with the Board 
of Directors to meet the organization’s strategic goals. 
Under his watch, the organization has signed the 
National allocation Agreement in 1997, the Federal 
Provincial Agreement for Chicken in 2001, and resolved 
some of the critical issues facing the chicken industry, 
such as allocation.

After many years, there was a clear need to address 
the issue of differential growth. Negotiation followed 
negotiation – meeting followed meeting – until finally, 
we amended the operating agreement and completed, 
just in October, the final step in concluding a new 
Federal Provincial Agreement for Chicken – which 

allowed us to welcome Alberta back to our family, after 
having withdrawn in 2013.

Mike helped the Board adjust to the idea of, and 
then fully endorse, a national, mandatory, auditable 
program for both Food Safety and Animal Care, as well 
as putting forward a plan with concrete steps dedicated 
to ensuring that our industry takes itself out of the 
antimicrobial resistance picture and uses antibiotics 
responsibly.

Under Mike’s wing, Chicken Farmers of Canada has 
raised over $430,000 for the Ottawa Food Bank and 
many thousands for other food banks around the 
country – and Chicken Farmers of Canada has created a 
national brand that is being recognized and supported 
across the country.

These are just some of the successes achieved by 
Chicken Farmers of Canada under Mike’s leadership. 
Throughout, Mike kept a strategic focus that helped 
the organization, and especially the Board, be more 
proactive and progressive while always considering 
the long-term impacts of decisions being made today. 
He also worked hard to make sure that the voice, and 
interests, of Canada’s chicken farmers were heard, and 
taken into account, within Canada, and overseas. 

Twenty two years is a very long time. It represents an 
incredible commitment and sacrifice. As farmers and as 
an industry, we have been absolutely blessed to have 
had his leadership and passion. On behalf of all of us, 
thank you Mike, very much.

BCCMB staff at CFC Summer Meeting in Vancouver
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board 
Operating Budget 2018
Revenue  
Levies 4,655,000

Licenses 7,500

Permits 4,000

Domestic lease fees 30,000

Interest 53,000

Other 10,000

Total Revenue 4,759,500

Expenses  

Audit, Legal, Consulting 250,000

BCCGA operating grant 626,130

Board member expenses 420,000

CFC Levy 1,298,500

Rent 116,691

Salaries and benefits 1,145,000

Operations 861,500

Depreciation 33,000

Total Expenses 4,750,821

Deficit 8,679

5%0.7%
13%

9%

27%2%

24%

18%

Audit, Legal,
Consulting

BCCGA
Operating Grant

Board Member
Expenses

Salaries
& Benefits

CFC Levy

Rent

Operations

Depreciation

BC CHICKEN 
MARKETING 
BOARD
2018 OPERATIONAL 
BUDGET

LEVIES
Levy collection is done as per the General Orders.  
Processors collect levies from growers and remit them 
to the Board.  Self-marketers remit levies directly to 
the Board.  Levies are used to fund Board activities 

Levy Rates (cents/kg)
Province Provincial 

Levy
CFC 
Levy

Total
levy

BC 1.37 0.53 1.90

Alberta 1.22 0.53 1.75

Saskatchewan 1.41 0.53 1.94

Manitoba 1.50 0.53 2.03

Ontario 1.60 0.53 2.13

Quebec 1.53 0.53 2.06

NB 0.56 0.53 1.09

NS 0.95 0.53 1.48

PEI 1.00 0.53 1.53

NFLD 1.06 0.53 1.59

Source:  CFC effective January 14, 2016

and operations as per the BC Chicken Scheme (1961).  
Levy distribution is as per the 2018 Operating Budget 
illustrating the percentage of levies used on various 
budget items.  The levy rate for BC did not change for 
2017.  
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Management's Responsibility

To the Members of British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board:

Management is responsible for the preparation and presentation of the accompanying financial statements, including responsibility for
significant accounting judgments and estimates in accordance with accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations and ensuring
that all information in the annual report is consistent with the statements. This responsibility includes selecting appropriate accounting
principles and methods, and making decisions affecting the measurement of transactions in which objective judgment is required.

In discharging its responsibilities for the integrity and fairness of the financial statements, management designs and maintains the
necessary accounting systems and related internal controls to provide reasonable assurance that transactions are authorized, assets
are safeguarded and financial records are properly maintained to provide reliable information for the preparation of financial statements.

The Board of Directors and Audit Committee are composed entirely of Members who are neither management nor employees of British
Columbia Chicken Marketing Board. The Board is responsible for overseeing management in the performance of its financial reporting
responsibilities, and for approving the financial information included in the annual report. The Board fulfils these responsibilities by
reviewing the financial information prepared by management and discussing relevant matters with management and external auditors.
The Committee is also responsible for recommending the appointment of the Board's external auditors.

MNP LLP is appointed by the Members to audit the financial statements and report directly to them; their report follows. The external
auditors have full and free access to, and meet periodically and separately with, both the Committee and management to discuss their
audit findings.

February 13, 2018

Executive Director

M A R K E T I N G  B O A R D

Source Sans Pro

2017 ANNUAL REPORT 45

BCCMB FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED



Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Members of British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board:  

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board, which comprise the statement of
financial position as at December 31, 2017, and the statements of operations, changes in net assets and cash flows for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with Canadian
accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of British Columbia Chicken
Marketing Board as at December 31, 2017 and  the results of its operations, changes in net assets and its cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations.

Abbotsford, British Columbia

February 13, 2018 Chartered Professional Accountants

300 - 32988 South Fraser Way , Abbotsford, British Columbia, V2S 2A8, Phone: (604) 853-9471, 1 (877)853-9471
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
Statement of Financial Position

As at December 31, 2017

2017 2016

Assets
Current

Cash and cash equivalents 1,024,322 746,227
Accounts receivable 600,599 653,448
Prepaid expenses 44,076 54,885

1,668,997 1,454,560

Capital assets (Note 3) 172,135 127,216

Investments restricted for contingency fund (Note 4) 2,566,275 2,517,676

4,407,407 4,099,452

Liabilities
Current

Accounts payable and accruals 234,919 270,754
Government remittances payable 16,200 29,127
Deferred revenue 29,330 35,584

280,449 335,465

Commitments (Note 5)

Net Assets
Invested in capital assets 172,135 127,216
Restricted for contingency fund 2,566,275 2,517,676
Unrestricted 1,388,548 1,119,095

4,126,958 3,763,987

4,407,407 4,099,452

Approved on behalf of the Board

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these  financial statements
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
Statement of Operations

For the year ended December 31, 2017

2017 2016

Revenues
Grower assessments (Note 6) 4,365,533 4,315,298
Over marketing levies 234,683 485,607
Domestic lease income 40,909 66,004
CFC funding - Summer Meeting 40,000 -
IAF funding 24,856 32,750
Interest and sundry 81,466 83,168
Licenses 7,500 7,760
Permit fees 3,400 3,295

4,798,347 4,993,882

Operational expenses (Schedule 1) 4,435,376 4,171,197

Excess revenues over expenses 362,971 822,685

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these  financial statements
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
Statement of Changes in Net Assets

For the year ended December 31, 2017

Invested in
capital assets

Restricted for
contingency

fund

Unrestricted 2017 2016

Net assets, beginning of year 127,216 2,517,676 1,119,095 3,763,987 3,784,827

Excess revenues over expenses (20,503) - 383,474 362,971 822,685

Distribution of prior year's surplus  (Note 9) - - - - (843,525)

Purchase of capital assets (net)  65,422 - (65,422) - -

Income earned on restricted assets  - 48,599 (48,599) - -

Net assets, end of year 172,135 2,566,275 1,388,548 4,126,958 3,763,987

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these  financial statements
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended December 31, 2017

2017 2016

Cash provided by (used for) the following activities
Operating

Excess revenues over expenses 362,971 822,685
Amortization 20,669 14,583
Gain on disposal of capital assets (166) -

383,474 837,268
Changes in working capital accounts

Accounts receivable 52,849 (35,664)
Prepaid expenses 10,809 (12,589)
Accounts payable and accruals (35,835) 14,640
Government remittances payable (12,927) 9,973
Deferred revenue (6,254) 35,584

392,116 849,212

Financing
Distribution of prior year's operating surplus to growers - (843,525)

Investing
Purchase of capital assets (66,022) (64,717)
Proceeds on disposal of capital assets 600 -
Purchase of investment restricted for contingency fund (48,599) (48,868)

(114,021) (113,585)

Increase (decrease) in cash resources 278,095 (107,898)
Cash resources, beginning of year 746,227 854,125

Cash resources, end of year 1,024,322 746,227

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these  financial statements
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2017

1. Organization

The British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board ("the Board") was established in 1961 by the Natural Products Marketing
(British Columbia) Act to promote, control and regulate the transportation, processing, packing, storage, and marketing of all
classes of chicken in British Columbia.  The Board is a non-profit agricultural organization and is exempt from income taxes
pursuant to subsection 149(1)(e) of the Income Tax Act.

2. Significant accounting policies

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit
organizations set out in Part III of the CPA Canada Handbook - Accounting, as issued by the Accounting Standards Board
in Canada, and include the following significant accounting policies:

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and term deposits with banks. Term deposits subject to restrictions that
prevent its use for current purposes are included in investments restricted for contingency fund.

Capital assets

Purchased capital assets are recorded at cost.

Amortization is provided using the declining balance method at rates intended to amortize the cost of assets over their
estimated useful lives. 

Rate
Computer hardware 30 %
Computer software 100 %
Furniture and office equipment 10 %
Website and internally developed software 20 %

In the year of purchase, capital assets are amortized at one half of the regular rate. No amortization is recorded for capital
assets acquired but not put into service at year-end.

Leasehold improvements are amortized on a straight-line basis over the remaining life of the lease agreement at the time
the leasehold improvement is purchased. Therefore, the assets are amortized over a period of 1 to 5 years.

Long-lived assets

Long-lived assets consist of capital assets. Long-lived assets held for use are measured and amortized as described in the
applicable accounting policies.

The Board performs impairment testing on long-lived assets held for use whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value of an asset, or group of assets, may not be recoverable. Impairment losses are recognized
when undiscounted future cash flows from its use and disposal are less than the asset’s carrying amount.  Impairment is
measured as the amount by which the asset’s carrying value exceeds its fair value.  Any impairment is included in the
statement of operations for the year.

Prices for similar items are used to measure fair value of long-lived assets.
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2017

2. Significant accounting policies  (Continued from previous page)

Fund accounting

In order to ensure observance of limitations and restrictions placed on the use of resources available to the Board, the
accounts are maintained on a fund accounting basis. Accordingly, resources are classified for accounting and reporting
purposes into funds. These funds are held in accordance with the objectives specified by the contributors or in accordance
with the directives issued by the Board of Directors. 

Unrestricted Fund
The Unrestricted Fund reports the revenues and expenses related to general and ancillary operations of the Board.

Capital Assets Fund
The Capital Assets Fund reports the Board’s capital assets and presents the flow of funds related to their acquisition and
disposal, unexpended capital resources and debt commitments.

Restricted for Contingency Fund
The Restricted Contingency Fund is pursuant to Part 15 "Distribution of Board Operating Surplus" of the General Orders, to
which the Board has established a fund represented by cash and cash equivalents in the minimum amount of $2,000,000
and not to exceed one year of budgeted Board expenses, to be used to fund expenditures for unforeseen circumstances.
Any amount deemed to be in excess to the set level of the contingency will be distributed to growers in proportion to the
amount of the levy paid by a grower. The Board has reserved the right to change the amount required in the Restricted
Contingency Fund and/or the levy rate at any time. In order to qualify for a distribution, a grower must be in good standing
and be a current grower with the Board at the time that a distribution is declared. Investment income generated will be re-
invested into the Restricted for Contingency Fund. 

Revenue recognition

Grower assessments are recognized as revenue when chickens are shipped to the processors and collectability is
reasonably assured. Over marketing levies in respect to quota usage during a production period are calculated and invoiced
to the grower approximately three weeks after the end of the production period. Over marketing levies are recognized on the
date of each individual grower’s shipment, when collectability is reasonably assured.

Domestic lease charges, payable to the Board in respect to quota usage during a production period, are invoiced in
accordance with part 43 of the August 26, 2011 General Orders.

Revenue from other sources are recorded when services are provided or revenue is received. 

Measurement uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period. 

Accounts receivable are stated after evaluation as to their collectability and an appropriate allowance for doubtful accounts
is provided where considered necessary. Amortization is based on the estimated useful lives of capital assets.

These estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodically and, as adjustments become necessary, they are reported in
the statement of operations in the period in which they become known. 
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2017

2. Significant accounting policies  (Continued from previous page)

Financial instruments

The Board recognizes its financial instruments when the Board becomes party to the contractual provisions of the financial
instrument. All financial instruments are initially recorded at their fair value, including financial assets and liabilities
originated and issued in a related party transaction with management. Financial assets and liabilities originated and issued
in all other related party transactions are initially measured at their carrying or exchange amount in accordance with Section
3840 Related Party Transactions.

At initial recognition, the Board may irrevocably elect to subsequently measure any financial instrument at fair value. The
Board has not made such an election during the year.

The Board subsequently measures investments in equity instruments quoted in an active market and all derivatives at fair
value. Fair value is determined by quoted price quotations. Investments in equity instruments not quoted in an active market
are subsequently measured at cost less impairment. All other financial assets and liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortized cost. 

Transaction costs and financing fees directly attributable to the origination, acquisition, issuance or assumption of financial
instruments subsequently measured at fair value are immediately recognized in the statement of operations for the current
period. Conversely, transaction costs and financing fees are added to the carrying amount for those financial instruments
subsequently measured at cost or amortized cost.

Financial asset impairment

The Board assesses impairment of all of its financial assets measured at cost or amortized cost. The Board groups assets
for impairment testing when there are numerous assets affected by the same factors. Management considers whether there
has been a breach in contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments in determining whether
objective evidence of impairment exists. When there is an indication of impairment, the Board determines whether it has
resulted in a significant adverse change in the expected timing or amount of future cash flows during the year. If so, the
Board reduces the carrying amount of any impaired financial assets to the highest of: the present value of cash flows
expected to be generated by holding the assets; the amount that could be realized by selling the assets; and the amount
expected to be realized by exercising any rights to collateral held against those assets. Any impairment, which is not
considered temporary, is included in current year statement of operations.

The Board reverses impairment losses on financial assets when there is a decrease in impairment and the decrease can be
objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized. The amount of the reversal is recognized
in the statement of operations in the year the reversal occurs.

3. Capital assets 

2017 2016
Accumulated Net book Net book

Cost amortization value value

Computer hardware 215,016 195,635 19,381 13,266
Computer software 157,175 157,175 - -
Furniture and office equipment 353,838 321,869 31,969 31,116
Leasehold improvements 209,417 209,417 - -
Website and internally developed software 152,397 31,612 120,785 82,834

1,087,843 915,708 172,135 127,216

4. Investments restricted for contingency fund 

Investments restricted for contingency fund consist of six term deposits which bear interest at 1.90%, maturing in May 2022.
In the prior year, the investment restricted for contingency fund consisted of six term deposits which earned interest at
1.95%, which were renewed in May 2017. 
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2017

5. Commitments 

(a)  The Board leases office space with monthly rent of $4,724 (2016 -  $4,724) until June 30, 2018, including triple net
expenses. 

(b) The Board has entered into a contract to receive IT support with monthly fees of $2,100 (2016 - $2,100), which can be
cancelled upon request with computer hardware buyout.

(c) The Board has signed agreements for social media management services with monthly costs of $1,000 (2016 - $750),
which can be cancelled upon request.

(d) The Board has entered into an agreement with Alberta Chicken Producers and Chicken Farmers of Saskatchewan to
develop and license a computer software program ("Grower Program"). The Board has committed to pay $86,240 over the
course of the program's development for its share of the cost. As at December 31, 2017, $45,613 of this total has been
paid. The Board has also committed to pay for its share of hosting and maintenance costs on a monthly basis.

(e) The Board has entered into three vehicle leases and two equipment leases with total scheduled payments (including
GST and PST) as follows: 

2018 27,413
2019 23,688
2020 22,870
2021 22,052

6. Grower assessments

The levy on all growers is 1.90 cents (2016 - 1.90) per kilogram, live weight on all chicken grown in British Columbia which
is inclusive of the CFC service fee.  Of the levy assessed, 0.53 cents (2016 - 0.53) is remitted to the CFC for services
provided.

7. Unused credit facility 

The Board has a credit facility agreement with the Royal Bank of Canada which provides for the following funding:

(a)  $350,000 revolving facility for general operating requirements by way of Royal Bank loans.  This facility bears interest at
bank prime lending rates plus 0.3% and is payable monthly.  The borrowings under this facility are due on demand.

(b)  $268,275 of letters of credit and guarantee to the Chicken Farmers of Canada ("CFC") for liquidated damages
pertaining to potential levies on excess production allocated to the province.  The borrowings under this facility are due on
demand.

The agreement is secured by a general security agreement covering all assets of the Board, certified copies of Board
Members' resolutions authorizing the Board to borrow up to a maximum of $644,000 and an enforceable letter of
undertaking from the Board confirming that the number of birds placed on the farms will equal what the processors have
agreed to purchase.

The agreement contains certain covenants in respect to levies imposed on growers, regulation of the placement of birds
with processors and provision of weekly production reports.
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2017

8. Related party transactions 

The following related party transactions have occurred during the year:

A net operating grant totaling $635,413 (2016 - $509,877) and rent expense of $60,000 (2016 - $60,000) were paid to the
British Columbia Chicken Growers Association ("BCCGA"), incorporated under the Society Act of British Columbia. As at
December 31, 2017, the BCCGA had a surplus of revenue over expenditures of $47,742 (2016 - $49,578), which was
returned to the Board reducing the operating grant from $683,155 to $635,413 (included in accounts receivable).

The BCCGA's mandate is to unite commercial chicken growers for the betterment of the industry and act as a liaison
between the chicken growers, marketing boards, industry and government. It is primarily funded by a grant from the Board
which approves the Association's annual operating budget. 

These transactions were in the normal course of operations and were measured at the exchange amount, which is the
amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties. 

9. Distribution of prior years' surplus

The Board distributes a surplus to growers based upon the total surplus calculated as select current assets less select
current liabilities and deferred revenue at year-end less one month's budgeted operating expenses. The following outlines
the funds that were distributed to growers in good standing and were based on the total kilograms of chicken shipped by the
growers in the year the surplus occurred:

2017 $   nil

2016 $   843,525

2015 $   722,428

2014 $   808,254

2013 $1,280,760

10. Trust assets and liabilities

As at December 31, 2017 the Board held funds in trust with respect to the New Entrants Program for Growers. Trust assets
held totaled $10,000 (2016 - $30,000), which are included in cash and cash equivalents as well as accounts payable and
accruals.

11. Financial instruments 

The Board, as part of its operations, carries a number of financial instruments. It is management's opinion that the Board is
not exposed to significant interest, currency, credit, liquidity or other price risks arising from these financial instruments
except as otherwise disclosed.

Credit concentration

As at December 31, 2017, five processors (2016 - five) accounted for 51% (2016 - 54%) of trade accounts receivable. The
Board believes that there is no unusual exposure associated with the collection of these receivables. The Board performs
regular credit assessments of its customers and provides allowances for potentially uncollectible accounts receivable.

12. Comparative figures

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with current year presentation.
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
Schedule 1 - Schedule of Operational Expenses

For the year ended December 31, 2017

2017 2016

Operational expenses
Advertising and promotion 160,486 104,896
Amortization 20,669 14,583
Bad debts 45 -
Bank charges and interest 6,570 7,158
Board members' remuneration, travel and meals 430,465 498,495
British Columbia Chicken Growers Association (Note 8) 635,413 509,877
CFC Summer Meeting 2017 164,597 -
Chicken Farmers of Canada levy (Note 6) 1,236,627 1,203,374
Computer installation and consulting 103,891 91,201
Consulting fees 106,592 89,339
DEPI funding - 5,793
Dues, memberships and subscriptions 13,383 13,828
Gain on disposal of capital assets (166) -
Insurance 6,028 5,925
New entrant program 250 1,000
Office supplies and stationary 52,881 64,691
PPAC 8,511 7,312
Postage 7,255 12,354
Poultry biosecurity 10,090 500
Professional fees 58,143 102,330
Rent (Note 8) 115,851 114,982
Repairs and maintenance 12,009 13,087
SMAC 34,981 68,128
Salaries and benefits 975,724 956,158
Staff travel 101,081 101,026
Strategic plan initiative 150,783 165,921
Telephone 23,217 19,239

4,435,376 4,171,197
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Sales Growth of "GROWN IN BC"
Chicken in Millions of Kilograms (Evisc Wt.)

1986

1989
1992

1995

1998

2001

2005

2008 2011

1983

2004*

2014

2017

37,791,890 kg

49,435,000 kg

62,730,000 kg

74,356,000 kg

100,233,058 kg

117,669,877 kg

141,059,793 kg

120,464,614 kg

154,374,498 kg

157,383,944 kg 153,678,565 kg
160,944,862 kg

171,361,368 kg

*(avian influenza)
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Sales Growth of "GROWN IN BC"
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Administrators

Donations Operations

BC Chicken Growers’ Association Proposed 
Budget 2018
REVENUE
BCCMB Operating Grant 626,130.00 

Rental Income BCCMB Office 60,000.00 

BCBHEPA Poultry in Motion cost share 26,000.00 

TOTAL REVENUE 712,130.00 

EXPENSES
Annual Picnics, Dinners, BC Poultry 
Conference

95,000.00 

Audit, Legal, Consulting 65,500.00 

BCCGA Director Expenses 223,825.00 

BCCMB Office Building 18,705.00 

BC Poultry Association Dues 60,000.00 

Poultry in Motion Operating Expenses 147,000.00 

Administrators 68,000.00 

Donation 15,000.00

Operations 19,100.00 

TOTAL EXPENSES 713,130.00 

BC CHICKEN 
GROWERS’ 
ASSOCIATION
2018 OPERATIONAL 
BUDGET

BC CHICKEN GROWER’S 
ASSOCIATION FUNDING AND 
USE REPORT 2017

Budget 2017             
$

Actual 2017               
$

Total Variance           
$

Budget Actual Variance

Revenues:

BCCMB Operating Revenue 683,155 683,155 - - - -
Rental Income 60,000 60,000 - - - -
BCBHEPA Poultry in Motion Cost sha 26,000 27,475 1,475- - - -
Grant Income - 8,750 8,750- - - -
Miscellaneous Income - - - - - -
BCCMB Operating Surplus - 49,578- 49,578 - - -

Expenses:

Directors Per Diem 164,300 147,894 16,406 19,716 17,747 1,969
Administrators' Honorarium 68,000 69,245 1,245- 3,400 13,849 10,449-
Poultry in Motion Coordinators/Per Di 80,500 80,768 268- 4,025 72,691 68,666-
Audit/Legal/Consulting/Strat Plan 110,500 81,666 28,834 5,525 - 5,525
Advertising & Promotions 2,500 592 1,908 250 355 105-
PiM Operating Expenses 54,000 70,259 16,259- - 26,882 26,882-
BC Poultry Conference/Dinners/Picnic 120,000 72,494 47,506 24,000 - 24,000
Conferences & Seminars 3,500 1,143 2,357 525 158 367
Dues & Subscriptions 3,500 185 3,315 - - -
Insurance 3,300 3,107 193 - 1,864 1,864-
Office/Bank Expenses 2,600 3,445 845- 260 189 71
Property Taxes 9,800 7,703 2,097 - - -
Meetings/Refreshments 5,000 6,096 1,096- 1,000 480 520
Telecommunications 1,750 1,407 343 263 373 111-
Strata Fees 10,205 10,205 - - - -
BC Poultry Assocation 59,700 59,608 92 14,925 2,980 11,945
Travel & Meals 55,000 65,960 10,960- 8,250 3,298 4,952
Donations 15,000 10,108 4,892 1,500 2,022 522-

Total Revenue 769,155 729,802 39,353 - - -
Total Expense 769,155 691,885 77,270 83,639 142,889 (59,250)
Net - 37,917 (37,917) (83,639) (142,889) 59,250

Nurture existing relationships and 
develop new relationships with key 

industry stakeholders
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BC Poultry Conference

Audit, Legal,
Consulting

BCCGA Director
Expenses 

BCCMB O�ice
Building 

BC Poultry
Association Dues 

Poultry in
Motion Operating

Expenses

Administrators

Donations Operations

Revenues:

BCCMB Operating Revenue
Rental Income
BCBHEPA Poultry in Motion Cost sha
Grant Income
Miscellaneous Income
BCCMB Operating Surplus

Expenses:

Directors Per Diem
Administrators' Honorarium
Poultry in Motion Coordinators/Per Di
Audit/Legal/Consulting/Strat Plan
Advertising & Promotions
PiM Operating Expenses
BC Poultry Conference/Dinners/Picnic
Conferences & Seminars
Dues & Subscriptions
Insurance
Office/Bank Expenses
Property Taxes
Meetings/Refreshments
Telecommunications
Strata Fees
BC Poultry Assocation
Travel & Meals
Donations

Total Revenue
Total Expense
Net

Budget Actual Variance Budget Actual Variance Budget Actual Variance

- - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - -

16,430 29,579 13,149- 36,146 19,226 16,920 13,144 8,559 4,585
3,400 12,940 9,540- 6,800 6,470 330 3,400 3,235 165
4,025 4,846 821- - 3,231 3,231- - - -

11,050 2,667 8,383 60,775 2,667 58,108 - 2,667 2,667-
250 118 132 250 251 1- 250 - 250
- - - - - - - - -

12,000 - 12,000 12,000 - 12,000 12,000 - 12,000
175 158 17 175 158 17 350 158 192
- - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - -
- 756 756- 130 189 59- - 189 189-
- - - - - - - - -
250 1,524 1,274- 750 305 445 250 240 10

88 373 286- 350 149 201 88 75 13
- - - - - - - - -

5,970 5,982 12- 5,970 8,941 2,971- 11,940 8,973 2,967
5,500 13,192 7,692- 11,000 9,894 1,106 5,500 4,526 974

12,000 1,095 10,905 - 1,095 1,095- - - -

- - - - - - - - - -
71,138 73,230 (2,093) 134,346 52,576 81,770 46,922 28,622 18,300

(71,138) (73,230) 2,093 (134,346) (52,576) (81,770) (46,922) (28,622) (18,300)

Educate Government on the chicken 
industry

Producers receive prices that provide 
a stable income which enables them to 

cover production costs and form a 
sustainable, subsidy free industry

Participate with industry stakeholders 
in developing disease strategies

Revenues:

BCCMB Operating Revenue
Rental Income
BCBHEPA Poultry in Motion Cost sha
Grant Income
Miscellaneous Income
BCCMB Operating Surplus

Expenses:

Directors Per Diem
Administrators' Honorarium
Poultry in Motion Coordinators/Per Di
Audit/Legal/Consulting/Strat Plan
Advertising & Promotions
PiM Operating Expenses
BC Poultry Conference/Dinners/Picnic
Conferences & Seminars
Dues & Subscriptions
Insurance
Office/Bank Expenses
Property Taxes
Meetings/Refreshments
Telecommunications
Strata Fees
BC Poultry Assocation
Travel & Meals
Donations

Total Revenue
Total Expense
Net

-

Budget Actual Variance Budget Actual Variance Budget Actual Variance

- - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - -
- - - 26,000 27,475 1,475- - - -
- - - - 8,750 8,750- - - -
- - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - -

24,645 17,118 7,527 16,430 17,118 688- 16,430 34,237 17,807-
3,400 3,235 165 10,200 3,235 6,965 3,400 3,235 165

- - - 72,450 - 72,450 - - -
11,050 2,667 8,383 5,525 2,667 2,858 11,050 37,338 26,288-

- - - 1,000 - 1,000 - - -
- - - 54,000 - 54,000 - - -
- - - 12,000 - 12,000 18,000 - 18,000
175 237 62- - 237 237- 1,750 237 1,513
- - - - - - 350 - 350
- - - 1,320 - 1,320 - - -
- - - 260 189 71 - 189 189-
- - - - - - - - -
250 240 10 - - - - 2,398 2,398-

88 75 13 175 75 100 - 373 373-
- - - - - - - - -

5,970 14,902 8,932- 5,970 14,955 8,985- 2,985 2,991 6-
5,500 4,526 974 - 6,789 6,789- 2,750 11,314 8,564-

- - - 1,500 2,190 690- - - -

- - - 26,000 36,225 (10,225) - - -
51,078 43,000 8,078 180,830 47,455 133,375 56,715 92,312 (35,597)

(51,078) (43,000) (8,078) (154,830) (11,230) (143,600) (56,715) (92,312) 35,597

Collaborate with appropriate industry 
stakeholders to develop tools needed 
by producers to address variability in 

production levels

Build consumer trust through public 
education

Undertake appropriate professional 
development to enhance director 

effectiveness and ensure continued 
appropriate board composition

Revenues:

BCCMB Operating Revenue
Rental Income
BCBHEPA Poultry in Motion Cost sha
Grant Income
Miscellaneous Income
BCCMB Operating Surplus

Expenses:

Directors Per Diem
Administrators' Honorarium
Poultry in Motion Coordinators/Per Di
Audit/Legal/Consulting/Strat Plan
Advertising & Promotions
PiM Operating Expenses
BC Poultry Conference/Dinners/Picnic
Conferences & Seminars
Dues & Subscriptions
Insurance
Office/Bank Expenses
Property Taxes
Meetings/Refreshments
Telecommunications
Strata Fees
BC Poultry Assocation
Travel & Meals
Donations

Total Revenue
Total Expense
Net

-

Budget Actual Variance Budget Actual Variance

- - - 683,155 683,155 -
- - - 60,000 60,000 -
- - - - - -
- - - - - -
- - - - - -
- - - - 49,578- 49,578

16,430 8,559 7,871 4,929 8,559 3,630-
13,600 9,705 3,895 20,400 9,705 10,695

- - - - - -
5,525 2,667 2,858 - - -

500 - 500 - - -
- - - - - -

30,000 - 30,000 - - -
350 237 113 - - -

3,150 - 3,150 - - -
- 1,286 1,286- 1,980 - 1,980
260 189 71 1,690 - 1,690
- - - 9,800 8,720 1,080

1,000 - 1,000 1,500 - 1,500
438 - 438 263 - 263
- - - 10,205 10,205 -

5,970 - 5,970 - - -
11,000 - 11,000 5,500 - 5,500

- - - - - -

- - - 743,155 693,577 49,578
88,223 22,643 65,580 56,267 37,189 19,078

(88,223) (22,643) (65,580) 686,889 656,388

Identify and implement opportunities to 
increase involvement of growers in the 

industry
Funding/Operations
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MANAGEMENT RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The management of BC Chicken Growers' Association is responsible for preparing the financial
statements, the notes to the financial statements and other financial information contained in this annual
report.

Management prepares the financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles. The financial statements are considered by management to present fairly the
management's financial position and results of operations.

The organization, in fulfilling its responsibilities, has developed and maintains a system of internal
accounting controls designed to provide reasonable assurance that management assets are safeguarded
from loss or unauthorized use, and that the records are reliable for preparing the financial statements.

The financial statements have been reported on by CRKG LLP, Chartered Professional Accountants, the
Association's auditors. Their report outlines the scope of their examination and their opinion on the
financial statements.

Mr Dale Krahn, President

Abbotsford, British Columbia
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J .T. Cazander, CPA, CGA *
Peter Ronda, CPA, CGA *
Joe Kerkhoff, CPA, CGA *
R. Scott Groenwold, CPA, CGA*
*Practicing through a professional corporation

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Members of BC Chicken Growers' Association 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of BC Chicken Growers' Association, which comprise the
statement of financial position as at December 31, 2017 and the statements of operations, changes in net assets and
cash flow for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit
in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of BC Chicken
Growers' Association as at December 31, 2017 and the results of its operations and  its cash flow for the year then
ended in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations.

Chilliwack, British Columbia
March 8, 2018  CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS
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BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
Statement of Financial Position

December 31, 2017

2017 2016

ASSETS
Current

Cash $ 129,180 $ 126,734
Accounts receivable 27,902 12,877
Inventory (Note 3) 16,960 3,844
Goods and services tax recoverable 2,387 -
Prepaid expenses 34,713 19,527

211,142 162,982

Capital assets (Note 4) 262,382 268,115

$ 473,524 $ 431,097

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
Current

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 55,829 $ 58,052
Goods and services tax payable - 8

55,829 58,060

Fund Balances
Invested in capital assets 262,382 268,117
Unrestricted 155,313 104,920

417,695 373,037

$ 473,524 $ 431,097

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

_____________________________ Director _____________________________ Director

See notes to financial statements

See notes to financial statements
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BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
Statement of Operations

Year Ended December 31, 2017

2017 2016

Revenues
British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board (Note 5) $ 683,155 $ 559,455
Miscellaneous income - 1,053

683,155 560,508

Expenditures
Advertising and promotion 592 2,847
Amortization 504 531
Annual picnic and dinners 15,473 18,095
BC Poultry Association (Note 6) 59,608 49,080
BC Poultry Conference 57,120 70,426
Bank charges 60 61
Conferences and seminars 1,143 3,077
Directors remuneration 149,284 173,148
Donations 10,108 13,936
Meetings and refreshments 6,096 4,250
Memberships, dues and subscriptions 185 120
Office supplies and postage 3,384 2,126
Professional fees (Note 7) 81,667 65,413
Administrators' honorariums 69,245 68,660
Telecommunications 1,407 1,463
Travel and meals 65,960 56,219

521,836 529,452

Excess of revenues over expenditures from operations 161,319 31,056

Other income (loss)
British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board (Note 9) (47,742) (49,578)
Poultry In Motion Educational Mini Barns (Schedule 1) (105,895) (87,855)
Rental Income (Schedule 2) 36,976 35,951

(116,661) (101,482)

Excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenditures for the year $ 44,658 $ (70,426)

See notes to financial statements

See notes to financial statements
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BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
Statement of Changes in Net Assets

Year Ended December 31, 2017

Invested in Total Total
Capital Assets Unrestricted 2017 2016

Balance, beginning of year $ 268,117 $ 104,920 $ 373,037 $ 443,463
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over

expenditures (5,735) 50,393 44,658 (70,426)

Balance, end of year $ 262,382 $ 155,313 $ 417,695 $ 373,037

See notes to financial statements

See notes to financial statements
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BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
Statement of Cash Flow

Year Ended December 31, 2017

2017 2016

Operating activities
 Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures $ 44,658 $ (70,426)
 Item not affecting cash:

Amortization 9,316 9,719

53,974 (60,707)

 Changes in non-cash working capital:
Accounts receivable (15,025) (3,271)

 Inventory (13,116) 8,201
Accounts payable (2,223) (6,085)

 Prepaid expenses (15,186) 10,407
 Goods and services tax payable (2,395) 2,536

(47,945) 11,788

 Cash flow from (used by) operating activities 6,029 (48,919)

Investing activity
 Purchase of  capital assets (3,583) (915)

Increase (decrease) in cash flow 2,446 (49,834)

Cash - beginning of year 126,734 176,568

Cash - end of year $ 129,180 $ 126,734

See notes to financial statements

See notes to financial statements
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BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended December 31, 2017

1. Incorporation and nature of business    

BC Chicken Growers' Association was incorporated under the Society Act of British Columbia to
unite the commercial chicken growers in working for the betterment of the chicken industry and to
act as a liaison between chicken growers and marketing boards, industry and government.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

Basis of accounting

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards
for not-for-profit organizations (ASNFPO)

Financial statement presentation

These financial statements are restricted in scope and contain a representation only of the financial
activities pertaining to the British Columbia Chicken Growers Association.

Inventory

Inventory for the Poultry in Motion trailers, which consists of items held for distribution at no cost, is
realized at the lower of cost or net replacement value. Cost is determined using the First-in First-out
method.

Capital assets

Capital assets are recorded at cost. The Association provides for amortization using the declining
balance method at rates designed to amortize the cost of the capital assets over their estimated
useful lives. The annual amortization rates are as follows:

Buildings 4%
Poultry in Motion Educational

Mini Barns
10%

Furniture and fixtures 20%
Computer equipment 30%
Educational video 10%

Income taxes

The Association is registered as a not-for-profit agricultural organization under the Society Act of
British Columbia, and as such is exempt from income taxes pursuant to Subsection 149(1)(e) of the
Income Tax Act.

(continues)
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BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended December 31, 2017

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognized as follows:

 Revenue from BC Chicken Marketing Board are recognized as they are received.

 Cost sharing revenue is recognized when it is billed.

 Rent revenue are recognized as income as a monthly basis as the rent is due.

 Unrestricted grant income is recognized as received, restricted grant income is recognized as
the restrictions from the grant are fulfilled.

 Interest is recognized as it is earned.

Measurement uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian accounting standards for not-
for-profit organizations requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amount of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period.
Such estimates are periodically reviewed and any adjustments necessary are reported in earnings in
the period in which they become known. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

3. Inventory
 2017 2016

Poultry in Motion Educational Mini Barns
Teachers guides and

promotional materials  $ 16,960 $ 3,844

4. Capital assets        
2017 2016

Accumulated  Net book Net book
Cost amortization  value value

Land $ 105,125 $ -  $ 105,125 $ 105,125
Buildings 243,417 120,627  122,790 127,907
Equipment 6,386 6,166  220 275
Poultry in Motion Educational Mini

Barns 61,716 26,980  34,736 35,492
Computer equipment 5,426 5,915 (489) (684)

$ 422,070 $ 159,688 $ 262,382 $ 268,115
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BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended December 31, 2017

5. Related party transactions    

During the year, the Association received operating revenue of $683,155 (2016 - $559,455) and
rental revenue of $60,000 (2016 - $60,000) from the British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board. The
transactions were in the normal course of operations and were measured at the exchange amount,
which was the amount of consideration established and agreed upon by the related parties.

6. BC Poultry Association    

During the year, the Association paid fees to the BC Poultry Association, which represents the
feather groups in BC. The BC Poultry Association is keenly interested in the continued development
of the bio-security initiatives within the BC Poultry Industry. It will strengthen the long term viability of
the entire industry to further develop farm strategies that will minimize disease infections and
encourage improved flock husbandry practices. The BC Poultry Association also represents the four
feather groups by taking a lead on common issues and one voice as required from time to time,
making for a more efficient and cost effective representation of the industry.

7. Professional fees          
2017 2016

Audit $ 5,500 $ 5,500
Legal 33,259 5,735
Consulting 28,511 54,178
Strategic Planning & Execution 14,397 -

$ 81,667 $ 65,413

8. Poultry in Motion Educational Mini Barns Cost Sharing    

The British Columbia Broiler Hatching Egg Producers' Association owns 20% of the Poultry in Motion
Educational Mini Barn I and shares in 20% of the net operating costs of the trailer for each calendar
year. An invoice was issued on December 31, 2017 to the BC Broiler Hatching Egg Producers
Association for $23,662. This amount represents cost sharing of $27,475 less $3,813 for per diem
work and expenses that the BC Broiler Hatching Egg Producers Association paid directly to its
directors. The Poultry in Motion Educational Mini Barn II is owned 100% by the Association and
there is no cost sharing involved in its operating costs.

9. British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board    

At the British Columbia Chicken Growers' Association Directors' meeting of February 7, 2018 , the
directors passed a motion to return $47,742 plus GST of the 2017 operating surplus to the British
Columbia Chicken Marketing Board. 

10. Economic dependence    

The Association receives substantially all of its funding from the British Columbia Chicken Marketing
Board.
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BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
Schedule of Poultry In Motion Educational Mini Barns (Schedule 1)

Year Ended December 31, 2017

2017 2016

Revenue
Cost sharing (Note 8) $ 27,475 $ 14,179
Operating grants 8,750 17,773

36,225 31,952

Expenditures
Amortization 3,696 3,859
Attendants' remuneration 30,500 38,776
Poultry in Motion coordinators' honorariums 50,018 30,975
Insurance 1,911 1,916
Operating 55,995 44,281

142,120 119,807

Poultry in Motion Educational Mini Barns losses $ (105,895) $ (87,855)
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BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
Schedule of Rental Income (Schedule 2)

Year Ended December 31, 2017

2017 2016

Rental revenue $ 60,000 $ 60,000

Expenses
Amortization 5,116 5,329
Strata fees 10,205 10,205
Property taxes 7,703 8,515

23,024 24,049

Rental income $ 36,976 $ 35,951

See notes to financial statements
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FILING A 

REGULATED 
MARKETING 
APPEAL  
WITH THE B.C. FARM INDUSTRY 
REVIEW BOARD
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A person aggrieved or dissatisfied with an order, 
decision or determination of the following commodity 
marketing boards and commissions may file an appeal 
to the British Columbia Farm Industry Review Board 
(BCFIRB):

zz British Columbia Broiler Hatching Egg Commission 

zz British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board

zz British Columbia Cranberry Marketing Commission 

zz British Columbia Egg Marketing Board

zz British Columbia Hog Marketing Commission 

zz British Columbia Milk Marketing Board 

zz British Columbia Turkey Marketing Board

zz British Columbia Vegetable Marketing Commission

WHAT IS THE BRITISH 
COLUMBIA FARM 
INDUSTRY REVIEW 
BOARD?
The British Columbia Farm Industry Review Board 
(BCFIRB) is an administrative tribunal that has statutory 
responsibility for exercising regulatory and adjudicative 
functions independent of government in its general 
supervision of BC regulated marketing boards and 
commissions and in hearing regulated marketing 
appeals; farm practices complaints, and animal seizure 
appeals.

Originally known as the British Columbia Marketing Board 
(“BCMB”), BCFIRB was created in 1934 under the NPMA 
to supervise the commodity boards. Over the years, the 
role has been expanded and its authority redefined to 
address changes in the regulated marketing sector.

BCFIRB is composed of up to ten members appointed by 
Lieutenant Governor-in-Council (LGIC). Board members 
backgrounds vary, with experience in production, 
marketing, law and education related to agricultural 
issues.

HOW LONG DO I HAVE 
TO APPEAL?
BCFIRB must receive your written notice of appeal not 
more than thirty (30) days after the order, decision or 
determination of the commodity board or commission 
is made.

If an appeal is filed more than 30 days after the marketing 
board’s decision, the person filing the notice of appeal 
must explain what special circumstances exist that 
warrant BCFIRB accepting a late appeal (See ATA s.24).
 

DO I NEED LEGAL 
COUNSEL?
Only if you want or think you need it. It is your decision 
to make, and you will be responsible for paying your 
own lawyer.

WHERE DO I SEND THE 
APPEAL?
Either by mail, courier, fax or email as follows:

Mail:
Attention: Executive Director
British Columbia Farm Industry Review Board PO Box 
9129 Stn Prov Govt
Victoria BC V8W 9B5

Courier:
Attention: Executive Director
British Columbia Farm Industry Review Board 780 
Blanshard Street
Victoria BC V8W 2H1

Email: firb@gov.bc.ca 
Fax: 250-356-5131

WHAT SHOULD BE 
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INCLUDED IN THE 
NOTICE OF APPEAL?
The notice of appeal must be accompanied by a non-
refundable $100.00 filing fee. Cheque or money orders 
should be made out to the “Minister of Finance”.

The notice of appeal must include the following:

zz be in writing and signed

zz identify the decision being appealed

zz state why the decision should be changed

zz state the outcome requested from BCFIRB

zz include your name, address, telephone number, 
email (or the contact information of the person 
handling the appeal for you)

zz  include an address for delivery of any notices 
related to the appeal BCCMB’s notice of appeal 
form  can be used to file an appeal.  

WHAT HAPPENS WHEN 
THE BRITISH COLUMBIA 
FARM INDUSTRY REVIEW 
BOARD RECEIVES THE 
APPEAL?
BCFIRB will send you a letter acknowledging the receipt 
of your appeal. This letter will also contain information 
which explains the appeal process in greater detail. At 
the same time, BCFIRB will notify the commodity board 
or commission concerned that an appeal has been filed 
and instruct them of their responsibilities as outlined in 
the Rules of Practice and Procedures.
 
BCFIRB will also ensure that the commodity board 
or commission has received a copy of your notice of 
appeal.

BCFIRB will issue notice to the parties requiring them 
to attend a pre-hearing conference call. The purpose of 
the pre-hearing conference will be to clarify the issue 
on appeal and determine the position of each party 
as well as the remedies sought by the appellant. The 

pre-hearing conference call will also be used to confirm 
hearing dates and directions for the appeal hearing.

BCFIRB encourages parties to consider Alternative 
Dispute Resolution (ADR) to facilitate settlements of 
the matter under appeal and will assist the parties 
in establishing an ADR process. Parties can apply to 
BCFIRB requesting ADR. Discussions about possible 
ADR alternatives will also be an agenda item for the pre-
hearing conference.

The hearing of your appeal will normally be held not 
more than 60 days after BCFIRB first receives your notice 
of appeal; however, these timelines will be dependent 
upon the circumstances of all the parties to the appeal.

What is the most important thing for me to remember?

BCFIRB must receive your written notice of appeal 
within 30 days of an order, decision or determination of 
the commodity board or commission. Failure to meet 
this deadline may result in BCFIRB not hearing your 
appeal.

HOW CAN I GET MORE 
INFORMATION?
For further information please refer to the Rules of 
Practice and Procedures for Appeals. Section 8 of the 
Natural Products Marketing (BC) Act (NPMA), and 
the Administrative Tribunals Act (ATA).

More information on the appeal process is 
available on BCFIRB’s website at: www.gov.bc.ca/
BCFarmIndustryReviewBoard.

The standing orders of the commodity board or 
commission involved may also contain information.

Should you have any further questions please feel free 
to contact BCFIRB directly at: 

Phone: 250 356-8945
Fax: 250 356-5131
Email: firb@gov.bc.ca
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